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          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Good morning. I

          3  am Leroy Comrie, the Chair of the Consumer Affairs

          4  Committee. I'm joined by, and we're cohosting this

          5  Committee with Councilman Peter Vallone, Chair of

          6  the Committee on Public Safety.

          7                 I would like to thank everyone for

          8  attending this Committee's second meeting in a

          9  series of oversight hearings that have been sparked

         10  by the recent blackouts occurring in parts of Queens

         11  County.

         12                 At the Committee's first hearing in

         13  July, we spent considerable time questioning Con

         14  Ed's CEO Kevin Burke about the failures that led to

         15  the blackout. Today we will be reviewing the City's

         16  response to the Queens' crisis, and it's overall

         17  emergency preparedness.

         18                 This meeting is being conducted

         19  jointly with the Public Safety Committee, and I

         20  would like to thank Council Member Peter Vallone for

         21  his commitment to ensuring that this issue receives

         22  the attention it deserves. I also want to thank your

         23  Committee staff for working closely with mine to

         24  prepare for today's hearing.

         25                 As we all know, approximately 100,000
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          2  people in northeast Queens lost power for more than

          3  a week because of massive equipment failures in Con

          4  Edison's Long Island City's electrical distribution

          5  system. The health and safety of these residents

          6  were placed at great risk because they were

          7  misinformed about repair estimates, so most failed

          8  to make appropriate plans.

          9                 The City's Office of Emergency

         10  Management, or OEM, is responsible for coordinating

         11  the City's various resources and uniformly managing

         12  a response to any emergency condition requiring

         13  multi-agency cooperation, including a power outage.

         14                 OEM may marshal resources in the

         15  event of a blackout to communicate with New Yorkers.

         16  However, in this case, as we all know, many

         17  residents were all notified that a failure was

         18  imminent or kept appraised of the status of their

         19  neighborhood's electrical system during an outage.

         20                 Further, the information that was

         21  available was largely inaccurate for the first four

         22  to five days of the power failure.

         23                 OEM's guidelines require Con Edison

         24  to consist in determining the perimeter of the

         25  outage with he help of the Police Department, Fire
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          2  Department, and the Department of Environmental

          3  Protection.

          4                 According to OEM standards, the

          5  Queens outage was a phase II disruption, impacting

          6  more than 3,000 customers for more than 24 hours.

          7  OEM's coordinated response was generally regarded as

          8  positive once the agency had realistic statistics on

          9  the affected people. However, the agency did not

         10  immediately make a phase II designation, or initiate

         11  the appropriate level of response, because the

         12  estimated number of affected individuals was not

         13  reported as 100,000 up from the approximately 7,500,

         14  until almost five days into the outage.

         15                 Clearly, without a way to accurately

         16  estimate the outage perimeter, OEM's public safety,

         17  transportation, utility and human services task

         18  cannot be adequately implemented.

         19                 The Committees will be looking at the

         20  way in which coordination is traditionally

         21  implemented and why in this instance the appropriate

         22  coordination efforts did not take place immediately.

         23                 The Committees are also interested in

         24  3-1-1 phone records during the blackout. A recent

         25  report indicated that on Monday, July 17th, just
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          2  over 800 3-1-1 calls were placed, the calls spiked

          3  at nearly 3,500 on Wednesday the 19th, with

          4  residents reporting power problems in Queens and

          5  other parts of the City.

          6                 The Committees are interested in

          7  whether closer monitoring of the increased 3-1-1

          8  calls may have led to an earlier discovery that a

          9  massive failure occurred in Con Ed's network.

         10                 Today the Committees expect OEM to

         11  offer a time line indicating not only when the

         12  agency received information, but also from whom the

         13  information was received.

         14                 Furthermore, the Committees wish to

         15  identify what indicators the City typically uses to

         16  suggest a major crisis and which ones were missed in

         17  this instance.

         18                 The Public Service Commission, or

         19  PSC, is responsible for ensuring that New Yorkers

         20  receive reliable, low-cost utility services, by

         21  regulating and overseeing all utility providers in

         22  the State. State law requires Con Ed to assure safe

         23  and adequate electrical service and permits the PSC

         24  to examine the books and records of all corporations

         25  under its supervision.
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          2                 The PSC requires Con Ed to produce

          3  dozens of reports each year, including an annual

          4  report on reliability and power quality, an annual

          5  emergency plan, a report on the company's compliance

          6  with safety standards, reliability performance

          7  mechanism report, and a daily report on the

          8  distribution system.

          9                 Con Edison is also required to file

         10  an emergency response plan.

         11                 That plan contains protocols for

         12  notifying state and local officials of emergencies

         13  and communicating with those officials during such

         14  events.

         15                 The PSC indicates that it

         16  communicates with officials regularly to organize

         17  their activities during emergency events and share

         18  information about public services and restoration

         19  efforts.

         20                 However, the PSC's involvement in

         21  emergency situations, and the level of scrutiny it

         22  employs when reviewing Con Edison's reports have

         23  become matters of concern.

         24                 Today the Council intends to explore

         25  the relationship between the Commission, the City

                                                            9

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  and Con Ed, with respect to communicating potential

          3  dangers.

          4                 The Committees want to learn what

          5  role the PSC played, if any, in assisting the

          6  affected areas, and what protocols are in place to

          7  ensure the utility provides accurate figures to

          8  local response teams.

          9                 Again, I'd like to thank all of you

         10  for attending today's meeting, and I'd like to turn

         11  over for opening statements to Council Member Peter

         12  Vallone.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

         14  Welcome, everyone, to this hearing, the Consumer

         15  Affairs Committee and the Public Safety Committee.

         16  I'd like to thank Chair Leroy Comrie and his entire

         17  staff for their tireless efforts since the beginning

         18  of this blackout to investigate all of the issues

         19  surrounding this blackout. They have committed

         20  something like six hearings on this which is a lot,

         21  and it's a lot of work, especially in the summer.

         22  So, I want to thank you for all of that.

         23                 I want to thank Assemblyman Genaris,

         24  who is here, as he's been throughout. He's been a

         25  great help to us here at City Hall, and to the
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          2  people of the community which we both represent. The

          3  third amigo is apparently not present, although he

          4  was, Eric Gioia has also been a big help.

          5                 This is the second in a series of

          6  hearings, examining the current future reliability

          7  of electricity distribution within the City, and the

          8  emergency response measures in the event of

          9  significant power outage.

         10                 Today's hearing will focus on the

         11  City's response to the Queens blackout. We'll hear

         12  from the Commissioner of the Office of Emergency

         13  Management, Joe Bruno, and from the New York State

         14  Public Service Commission, the entity that oversees

         15  Con Ed, in an effort to determine the ways in which

         16  the City's responses to the emergency situation was

         17  effective and efficient, and the ways in which it

         18  was deficient, and how we can strengthen the

         19  response to improve communication, coordination,

         20  accountability and technology.

         21                 As everyone in this room is no doubt

         22  aware, the recent power outage in Long Island City

         23  left hundreds of thousands, and I'm not making that

         24  number up, so when you hear Con Ed continually

         25  underestimate the amount of people who were
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          2  affected, and say to this day 25,000, they're still

          3  wrong. It was hundreds of thousands of people who

          4  were affected by this blackout.

          5                 We were left without power for almost

          6  ten days, by most accounts the longest blackout in

          7  New York City history.

          8                 Northwestern Queens, an area which I

          9  represent, suffered immeasurably as a result of this

         10  prolonged outage.

         11                 Let me say this, what happened to my

         12  community on Monday and Tuesday and Wednesday of

         13  that week, should never be allowed to happen again,

         14  to any other resident of this greatest City in the

         15  world. Three and a half days of lying in the

         16  sweltering heat in complete and utter darkness,

         17  laughed at by Con Ed, who continually gave numbers

         18  out like 400 people being affected and fending for

         19  ourselves with no electricity, no refrigeration, no

         20  hot water, no street lights, no stores, no access to

         21  food and water, three and a half days fending for

         22  ourselves while Con Ed lied over and over again. How

         23  could this perfect storm of negligence be allowed to

         24  happen in the greatest City in the world. That's

         25  what we're here today to find out. And perhaps more
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          2  importantly, to ensure that it never happens to

          3  another resident of this City.

          4                 You know, when the City did respond,

          5  led by OEM and Commissioner Bruno, I have said this

          6  before, they responded like the allies hitting

          7  Normandy. It was an amazing response. We received

          8  everything we needed beginning approximately

          9  Thursday, late afternoon. I toured my neighborhood

         10  constantly. In fact, by Friday evening you couldn't

         11  go a half a block without running into a police

         12  officer. Flood lights everywhere you looked. People

         13  handing out water, food, you name it. The City

         14  responded beautifully.

         15                 Unfortunately, Monday, Tuesday and

         16  Wednesday we fended for ourselves, and that's what

         17  we'll be discussing today. You know, the ultimate

         18  goal is to ensure that this doesn't occur again. But

         19  secondly, we want to make sure that if it does we

         20  respond properly.

         21                 While I realize this is no small task

         22  in the City of New York, we need to work together to

         23  improve the abilities of agencies like OEM to

         24  respond to public emergencies as swiftly and

         25  effectively as possible.
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          2                 We're joined today by many of our

          3  colleagues. Our Minority -- and Chair Jimmy Oddo,

          4  the third amigo has shown up, Eric Gioia. We also

          5  have with us Council Member Joe Addabbo, Council

          6  Member Dan Garodnick, and Melinda Katz, all of the

          7  Public Safety Committee. I mentioned Assemblyman

          8  Genaris already. And I'd like to, as I said before,

          9  he's been in the room, he's been a huge help to this

         10  Committee and to his community throughout the entire

         11  blackout, and we'd like to afford him the

         12  opportunity to make a brief opening statement,

         13  Council Member Gioia.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you very

         15  much, Council Member Vallone. And thank you very

         16  much, Chair Comrie, for the indulgence. I will be

         17  brief.

         18                 Thank you, Commissioner, for being

         19  here. As Councilman Vallone said, it really was

         20  great to see you and all of the Commissioners out in

         21  Queens once the full extent of the blackout was

         22  realized. And it was a reassuring presence when the

         23  residents of Woodside and Sunnyside and Astoria and

         24  Long Island City walked out of their house and saw a

         25  cop standing on the corner. I think what
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          2  Commissioner Kelly said, well, if your phone doesn't

          3  work and you can't call 9-1-1 and you need a cop,

          4  chances are there's going to be a cop on your

          5  corner, just go outside.

          6                 That was very reassuring. And the

          7  City's response, from my point of view, and I think

          8  also from Councilman Vallone's point of view was

          9  very good once we got on the ground.

         10                 But the question really is, why did

         11  it take so long for the City of New York to realize

         12  that we were having an emergency and a crisis, the

         13  proportion of which the City has never seen, in

         14  terms of a blackout.

         15                 Why did it take so long for us to get

         16  there? Why did it take so long for us to have

         17  emergency management on the ground in an impressive

         18  way? And up into this point, I think we've all said

         19  that if only Con Ed -- it's clear at this point that

         20  Con Ed has misled the public, whether they

         21  intentionally misled the public, or whether they

         22  recklessly misled the public, or whether they just

         23  negligently misled the public remains to be seen,

         24  but the fact that Con Ed misled the public I think

         25  at this point is very clear. They misled the public,
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          2  they misled us, they misled the City Administration.

          3                 But the real question, and this is

          4  something I'll be focusing on in my questioning, is

          5  what information did the City have at its disposal?

          6  What did we actually know? What information was

          7  flowing to us? And should we have known a lot sooner

          8  than day three or day four that this was really an

          9  incredible crisis?

         10                 So, one, what did we know? What

         11  information did we actually have?

         12                 Two, what should we have known? This

         13  isn't the first time that Con Edison has misled the

         14  public about the extent of a crisis. And is it

         15  responsible of us to rely on Con Edison, or should

         16  we have some independent means to go out there and

         17  find out what's going on?

         18                 And third, and I think this is

         19  really, as we begin to how do we prevent this from

         20  ever happening in the future, and that really is the

         21  ultimate question, right? I mean, what happened in

         22  my neighborhood, nine days without power, people

         23  losing their food, people suffering, businesses

         24  going under, New Yorkers need to rest assured that

         25  when it gets hot, the lights are going to stay on,
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          2  and should the lights go off, the City is going to

          3  respond immediately and enforce. How do we go out

          4  and ensure the public that that is the case, that

          5  this will never happen again?

          6                 And finally, how do we ensure the

          7  vulnerable populations, the elderly, the shut-ins,

          8  people with disabilities, people who when the

          9  elevator goes out and the water stops pumping, we

         10  know where they are and we get to them first before

         11  a tragedy strikes. That's where I intend to focus my

         12  question, and I really do appreciate you being here

         13  this morning, and I'm looking forward to the

         14  dialogue. Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you,

         16  Council Member Gioia.

         17                 Before we proceed, I see some

         18  constituents in the back. These are your seats, if

         19  you'd like to sit down. We can tell the people in

         20  the suits to move, or you're just visiting? Oh, all

         21  right. Because I would move all of the suits for

         22  you, if you wanted to sit down, because this is the

         23  people's house, so...

         24                 Commissioner Bruno, I want to thank

         25  you for attending this morning, and at this point,
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          2  I'd like to ask you to do your opening statement.

          3                 We've been joined by Council Member

          4  Barron? I thought I saw him in and out and out and

          5  in, and he's around here somewhere. And with that, I

          6  want to again thank my staff, Thomas Ferrugia and

          7  Brian Sogol, and Ed Aul (phonetic), and all of

          8  Council Member Vallone's staff and Gioia's staff for

          9  helping us prepare for the meeting today. And with

         10  that, Commissioner Bruno, we'd like to turn over to

         11  you for your testimony this morning. Good morning.

         12                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Thank you very

         13  much. Good morning, everyone. I'd like to thank,

         14  obviously, Chairs Comrie and Vallone, and members of

         15  the Committee for the opportunity to speak today

         16  regarding last month's power outage that affected

         17  customers in Con Ed's Long Island City network and

         18  Northwest Queens.

         19                 Let me take a few minutes to provide

         20  you with an overview of the City's preparation for

         21  and response to this emergency. And then of course

         22  I'll answer any questions that you offer to me, as

         23  best I can. First some background.

         24                 Each year the City prepares for the

         25  summer months by working with the members of the
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          2  Heat Emergency Steering Committee, some 25 agencies.

          3                 That Committee is chaired by OEM. The

          4  Committee includes, as stated, 25 municipal, state,

          5  regional agencies, utilities, human service

          6  organizations.

          7                 When the City is predicted to have

          8  extremely hot weather, with heat indices nearing 100

          9  degrees, we convene the Heat Emergency Steering

         10  Committee conference calls, which allow us to bring

         11  these agencies together in a conference call, and

         12  discuss the steps that need to be taken to keep

         13  residents safe and healthy.

         14                 On Friday, July 14th, having been

         15  notified by the National Weather Service of

         16  projected heat indices of 100 to 104 degrees for

         17  Monday and Tuesday, the 17th and the 18th, we

         18  informed all participating agencies that a

         19  conference call would take place on Sunday morning,

         20  July 16th. During that call, which was held, the

         21  City decided it would open cooling centers

         22  throughout the five boroughs on Monday the 17th and

         23  Tuesday the 18th. Those are the days projected to be

         24  worst.

         25                 We also began issuing public
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          2  advisories on how to beat the heat and stay cool.

          3                 Additionally, the New York Power

          4  Authority committed to issuing a Peak Load

          5  Management Notification for Monday the 17th. A Peak

          6  Load Management Notification advises participating

          7  large customers to reduce their power consumption

          8  during peak hours by conserving power or switching

          9  to alternate generation.

         10                 We also declared a Citywide

         11  excavation safety alert effective Monday at 9:00

         12  a.m., so that contractors would not inadvertently

         13  harm critical underground facilities.

         14                 On Monday morning, July 17th, over

         15  250 cooling centers opened, and during that morning

         16  the Heat Emergency Screening Committee conference

         17  call, it was confirmed that the cooling centers

         18  would remain open for extended hours, and that the

         19  public pools would remain open late.

         20                 At that time we were advised by Con

         21  Ed that four feeders were down throughout the City.

         22  So, while there is always a power concern during hot

         23  weather, this did not appear to be abnormal given

         24  the high heat.

         25                 On Monday, we were notified by Con
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          2  Edison, they had lost five of a total of 22 feeders

          3  in the Long Island City network, and had implemented

          4  an eight percent voltage reduction, which means that

          5  there was a decrease in the amount of power supply

          6  to the network.

          7                 This was a conservation measure

          8  initiated by Con Edison to help cope with the

          9  emergency caused by the loss of these feeders, and

         10  was, according to Con Edison transparent to

         11  customers.

         12                 OEM sent representatives to both Con

         13  Edison's regional control center in Brooklyn, and

         14  their main distribution post on Irving Place in

         15  Manhattan to assess and monitor the situation. This

         16  is what we normally do.

         17                 Also, that evening, Mount Sinai

         18  Hospital, Queens, the only hospital on this network,

         19  was put on to emergency generation, as were many

         20  facilities operated by the Department of Corrections

         21  on Rikers Island.

         22                 By early Tuesday morning, July 18th,

         23  the focus of our frequent communications with Con Ed

         24  managers was their continued effort to shed load, in

         25  order to reduce demand on the Long Island City
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          2  network that was operating without a substantial

          3  number of feeders.

          4                 The Long Island City feeder condition

          5  was chaotic. Feeders were coming back on line and

          6  dropping back off, and we were most concerned with

          7  keeping consumption down and the network up.

          8                 At this point the City's response was

          9  focused on taking appropriate steps to prevent the

         10  network from going down. Estimates show that without

         11  load reduction, as many as 100,000 customers could

         12  be affected. And if the network failed in Long

         13  Island City, more than 3,000 residents would be

         14  without power and vital services.

         15                 We'd like to recall that at this time

         16  part of LaGuardia Airport was also out. And the

         17  three of the four feeders supporting the network

         18  were down. OEM sent field representatives to the

         19  airport to get a sense of the impacts on the ground

         20  to assess to the extent possible the threat to the

         21  Queens's network.

         22                 At the same time, the City took many

         23  steps to shed load and reduce demand on the Long

         24  Island City network. These included:

         25                 Asking the MTA to reduce and/or cut

                                                            22

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  power to the N, R, E, F and G lines in Queens.

          3                 Assisting the Port Authority of New

          4  York and New Jersey in removing LaGuardia Airport

          5  from the Long Island City network, placing it on an

          6  adjoining network, Jackson Heights.

          7                 Taking the Department of

          8  Environmental Protection's Bowery Bay sewage

          9  treatment plant off the power grid and putting it on

         10  generation.

         11                 Working with the New York City

         12  Housing Authority to reduce usage by shutting down

         13  elevators.

         14                 Asking DOT and the TBTA to shut off

         15  decorative bridge lighting; and as mentioned, moving

         16  Rikers Island correctional facility to full back-up

         17  generation.

         18                 In order to assist with load shedding

         19  operations and to monitor the situation, OEM opened

         20  a situation room on Tuesday, at our headquarters on

         21  Tuesday morning.

         22                 In addition, PD, NYPD went into the

         23  community on Tuesday with sound trucks to urge

         24  customers to reduce their consumption, with the goal

         25  being reduce system load.
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          2                 NYPD also had two to three times a

          3  normal contingent of officers in the affected area,

          4  increasing patrols and directing traffic.

          5                 On Tuesday afternoon, with the Long

          6  Island City network now on a six-feeder contingency,

          7  OEM determined a system-wide failure was possible

          8  and moved from a situation room to a full activation

          9  of the City's emergency operation center, which was

         10  staffed 24 hours per day until the power was

         11  ultimately restored the following week.

         12                 We activated the EOC and

         13  prepositioned equipment so we could respond on the

         14  ground quickly if feeders continued to go out and

         15  the network failed.

         16                 That afternoon OEM also dispatched a

         17  mobile data center, our interagency command bus,

         18  along with a tractor trailer with ten light towers

         19  out to the Police Department staging area on 36th

         20  Avenue in Vernon Boulevard, adjacent to Con Ed's

         21  facility.

         22                 Representatives from multiple

         23  agencies staffed the EOC, including the Community

         24  Assistance Unit. CAU's Queens and Bronx borough reps

         25  were fielding community calls and planning to
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          2  dispatch staff on Wednesday. Also on Tuesday, the

          3  American Red Cross, which was providing water in

          4  certain outage areas identified by Con Ed, initiated

          5  a broader volunteer call down to be ready in case

          6  the situation worsened.

          7                 Early on Wednesday morning, July

          8  19th, OEM was advised by Con Ed that the Long Island

          9  City Network had reached a nine feeder contingency,

         10  and Con Ed expressed concern for the viability of

         11  the entire Long Island City network. The discussion

         12  was focused on the reality that if a sufficient

         13  number of feeders could not be brought back up, the

         14  network might fail during peak usage. With this

         15  information, OEM continued to work with agencies to

         16  shed load in an effort to save the network and avoid

         17  impacting over 100,000 customers.

         18                 For example, at noon on Wednesday,

         19  OEM asked the Citicorp building to shut down and

         20  send staff home, and as a good corporate citizen

         21  they did so, at some points running on as little as

         22  20 percent of their regular power.

         23                 At this point the EOC was operating,

         24  NYPD was working the neighborhoods encouraging

         25  people to reduce power usage. Relief was available
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          2  to residents in the cooling centers, and the Red

          3  Cross continued to work with us to hand out bottled

          4  water and assist residents. By this time, the

          5  Community Assistance Unit had dispatched a majority

          6  of its staff to Queens to reach out to affected

          7  residents.

          8                 Early on Wednesday afternoon, with

          9  the Long Island City Network now on a 10 feeder

         10  contingency, Con Ed advised OEM that it was

         11  considering bringing the entire network down before

         12  it crashed, which would mean over 300,000 people

         13  would be in the dark without vital services.

         14                 This is clearly a very large concern,

         15  and OEM immediately began to plan for the

         16  possibility of a major blackout occurring during

         17  rushhour.

         18                 We asked the MTA to plan for

         19  increased bus service and to be ready to implement

         20  its power disruption plan. OEM arranged for the

         21  Department of Education to make school buses

         22  available to shadow Queens bus routes, including

         23  those starting in Manhattan, should subway service

         24  cease.

         25                 We pressed Con Ed to provide as much
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          2  advance notice as possible, so that the MTA trains

          3  could get into stations and we could prepare to

          4  assist the hundreds of thousands of people who would

          5  be affected.

          6                 Fortunately, by 5:00 p.m. on

          7  Wednesday, Con Ed predicted, based on some feeders

          8  coming back into service, that the network would

          9  hold and that they would not need to take the

         10  network down themselves.

         11                 At this point there was no suggestion

         12  that we should expect large scale outages as a

         13  result of keeping the network up.

         14                 The City continued to urge people to

         15  conserve power, and OEM reached out to elected

         16  officials representing the affected areas of Queens

         17  to bring them up to speed on the situation.

         18                 We also worked with the American Red

         19  Cross and the Salvation Army to provide food and

         20  water to impacted areas. They distributed 2,000

         21  meals Wednesday evening, provided breakfast on

         22  Thursday morning.

         23                 Every early on the morning of

         24  Thursday, July 20th, Con Ed continued to advise us

         25  that they believed about 1,700 customers were
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          2  without power. But that the number would probably

          3  rise as people woke up on that morning to find they

          4  did not have power.

          5                 By 7:30 that morning, the Long Island

          6  City network was down to a four feeder contingency,

          7  so shedding the load was working, and the focus

          8  remained on keeping the load down.

          9                 During any emergency situation, OEM

         10  staff received anecdotal information through

         11  non-official sources and to elected officials, and

         12  this was no exception.

         13                 By midday on Thursday, however, the

         14  anecdotal evidence increased dramatically,

         15  suggesting that there were many, many more customers

         16  without power.

         17                 Reports pointed to a much broader

         18  outage area. I note that even though Con Ed later

         19  provided the estimate of 25,000 customers as being

         20  without power as of Friday morning, they provided no

         21  information as to when those outages commenced.

         22  Certainly the eventual scope, possibly 100,000 plus

         23  residents or more, was not apparent earlier in the

         24  week from the reports we were receiving from the

         25  field.
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          2                 With these reports coming in on

          3  Thursday, OEM sent additional resources to the field

          4  and stepped up the mobilization of City resources

          5  and our not-for-profit partners that had been

          6  building since Tuesday, when the EOC was activated.

          7  Here are just some of the actions taken as part of

          8  the City.

          9                 The New York City Police Department

         10  deployed hundreds of additional personnel, easily

         11  more than five times their normal muster. Police

         12  officers and traffic agents blanketed the 114th and

         13  the 108th Precincts directing traffic and

         14  safeguarding people and property, and placed light

         15  towers at key intersections. They deployed eight

         16  mobile response vehicles and 12 commands posts, with

         17  the Aviation Unit providing aerial surveys for

         18  situational awareness to commanders on the ground.

         19  The NYPD also assisted Con Ed in contacting

         20  customers with life-sustaining equipment to ensure

         21  that they had the resources they needed.

         22                 The Fire Department moved its engine

         23  and ladder companies into the field for the duration

         24  of the outage, and it also opened up the quarters of

         25  Engine 312 for use as a feeding center.
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          2                 Additionally, EMS Major Emergency

          3  Response Vehicle, MERV, was stationed at Steinway

          4  and Ditmars to provide mass care to neighborhood

          5  residents.

          6                 HRA opened the Special Services

          7  Center at its office in Long Island City, staffed by

          8  its own professional staff and personnel from

          9  numerous agencies, and provided information and

         10  referrals to residents in the affected areas. Vans

         11  were provided by HRA, Health and Hospitals

         12  Corporation and DCAS, to transport residents to the

         13  Center and deliver supplies and services to homes

         14  and locations within the community. Crisis workers

         15  and volunteers were available 24 hours a day. HRA

         16  distributed 1,000 meals, 22,000 bottles of water and

         17  1,000 bags of ice over the course of this outage

         18  from this location.

         19                 The City's not-for-profit partners,

         20  such as the American Red Cross, Salvation Army, and

         21  our own Community Emergency Response Teams, CERT

         22  teams, staffed feeding operations throughout the

         23  affected area, serving more than 115,000 meals.

         24                 Just as a note, I appreciate the

         25  support that the Council has given to this program.
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          2  A number of you have actually funded the teams, and

          3  for support you've given us in identifying potential

          4  teams, paid dividends at this particular time.

          5                 The Community Emergency Response

          6  Teams were made up of volunteers trained by OEM,

          7  NYPD and FDNY, produced members from nine teams to

          8  assist in the feeding operations and help distribute

          9  literature and claim forms.

         10                 Both the Red Cross and Salvation Army

         11  provided roving canteen trucks and fixed feeding

         12  locations to dispense water and food to residents.

         13                 Additionally, the Mayor's Community

         14  Assistance Unit arranged for van service both to the

         15  Special Services Center and to feeding locations and

         16  kept in contact with more than 350 civic leaders and

         17  elected officials.

         18                 The Department of Correction prepared

         19  and distributed 5,000 hot meals throughout the

         20  affected area. The Department of Transportation

         21  worked to return all of the nearly 100 affected

         22  traffic signals to normal operations. And in the

         23  interim, installed and removed temporary stop signs

         24  so the intersection could be navigated safely.

         25                 The Department of Sanitation provided
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          2  enhanced service throughout the affected area,

          3  including 32 additional collection trucks for daily

          4  pick-up of residential garbage on a 24-hour basis,

          5  and for pick-up of commercial garbage whenever

          6  necessary.

          7                 The Department for the Aging kept ten

          8  senior centers open on extended hours, using two

          9  wheelchair accessible vans to transport area seniors

         10  to these centers.

         11                 DFTA also made sure that seniors

         12  receiving Meals-On-Wheels or home health services

         13  were checked on and contacted.

         14                 DCAS, our logistics agency, supplied

         15  more than 120,000 bottles of water for distribution

         16  by City agencies, the Red Cross and other

         17  not-for-profits, and provided the van service as

         18  shuttles throughout the area for residents to and

         19  from the Special Services Center.

         20                 The Health and Hospitals Corporation

         21  deployed a mobile medical unit staffed with medical

         22  personnel ready to address health issues that arose,

         23  providing residents with emergency medications such

         24  as insulin and blood pressure medications. HHC also

         25  provided three commuter vans to transport area
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          2  residents to the mobile medical unit, the Special

          3  Services Center, or local hospitals, if needed.

          4                 The Department of Health and Mental

          5  Hygiene dispatched dozens of food inspectors to

          6  address food safety issues in area restaurants and

          7  ensure that restaurants discarded spoiled food. In

          8  addition, two mental health professionals were on

          9  call to provide assistance to residents seeking help

         10  at the Special Services Center. DOHMH also

         11  intensified its analysis of syndromic surveillance

         12  trends so that the City could quickly detect any

         13  heat or spoiled food-related illnesses if they

         14  increased in the affected areas.

         15                 The Department of Consumer Affairs's

         16  inspectors surveyed the area with issues related to

         17  price gouging and the agency negotiated with Con Ed

         18  for an accelerated claims process, whereby Con Ed

         19  would accept claim forms for individuals and

         20  businesses without the need for receipts.

         21                 Taken together, the City and its

         22  not-for-profit partners delivered tremendous

         23  resources and assistance to the Queens communities

         24  affected by the power outage. More than 120,000

         25  meals and water, thousands of first responders to
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          2  keep the streets functioning and safe, a constant

          3  community outreach through hundreds of cooling

          4  centers, senior citizen centers and Special Service

          5  Centers, and constant accurate information through

          6  311 and the City's community outreach efforts.

          7                 To assist with the economic impact of

          8  the power outage, the Small Business Services of the

          9  City reached out to more than 750 businesses and

         10  provided Con Ed claim information at various

         11  locations throughout the affected area, while EDC,

         12  the Economic Development Corporation, created a new

         13  small business loan program funded by the City for

         14  low-interest loans to small businesses. SBS

         15  personnel remain in the affected neighborhoods now,

         16  taking and processing applications.

         17                 In addition, the City received

         18  approval from the federal Small Business

         19  Administration for an economic injury disaster

         20  declaration, which will allow impacted businesses to

         21  receive additional financial assistance.

         22                 Also, NYC & Company initiated the

         23  Power Up Queens campaign to aid the Queens community

         24  by attracting tourists and other New Yorkers to dine

         25  and to shop in the area.
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          2                 As is our role, OEM continued to

          3  coordinate the City's presence in the communities

          4  affected by the outage, both from our command center

          5  in Astoria Park and from the City's Emergency

          6  Operations Center at OEM's headquarters in Brooklyn.

          7                 We worked throughout the weekend, and

          8  into the following week, making certain that we have

          9  good information and were able to provide much

         10  needed services to those who were still without

         11  power.

         12                 This effort continued until Con Ed

         13  confirmed full restoration of customer service.

         14                 We continually review and revise our

         15  plans and procedures based on experiences. In fact,

         16  this after-action review already has commenced. We

         17  are closely examining how well both the Heat

         18  Emergency and Power Disruption plans were

         19  implemented and what might need to be improved

         20  during future events.

         21                 We have begun addressing the issue of

         22  how to immediately and independently determine the

         23  extent of a localized outage so that residents and

         24  businesses can receive prompt support.

         25                 Now, when we get a call from Con
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          2  Edison that suggests that as many as 1,000 customers

          3  are affected, or a significant impact exists, the

          4  staff from NYPD, FDNY, CAU and OEM, the City's Power

          5  Outage Response Team, known as PORT, are deployed to

          6  the location of the outage to canvass the area

          7  independently, often door to door, to get our view,

          8  independent view, of the affected area.

          9                 Since we put this team into action,

         10  we have responded seven times. With this firsthand

         11  information, we can better understand the scope and

         12  impact of the outage and deploy all necessary assets

         13  to the scene to assist those residents in need.

         14                 While we hope that an outage of this

         15  scale never occurs again, please be assured that we

         16  are prepared to handle it or any other emergency

         17  that this City can face.

         18                 Additionally, I'm prepared to answer

         19  all of the questions. I think when the City

         20  recognized that the outage was at the level that we

         21  saw, we did bring in tremendous resources. We just

         22  want you to realize, we were doing quite a bit

         23  before that. And a major focus earlier, as I stated,

         24  was on the potential loss of the entire grid, and we

         25  were concerned about the loss of the Long Island
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          2  City Network, which would have been devastating.

          3                 We never had any indication from Con

          4  Ed or anyone that had the system gone down, it would

          5  have come up more quickly.

          6                 I know that that's been asked of me.

          7  I never had any indication they would come up. In

          8  fact, I asked that question directly of Con Ed, if

          9  we bring this down, can we be assured we'll be back

         10  up very quickly, and they could give no such

         11  assurance. I didn't know if we would have 300,000

         12  plus people out for the same period of time.

         13                 And that just gives you some, I think

         14  it gives you an overview of what we were dealing

         15  with. And remember also, we looked back today on

         16  what we know. When we were working with this, we

         17  were looking forward at what we didn't know. I was

         18  looking at what was happening and trying to respond

         19  to what was in front of me at that particular

         20  moment. And my greatest fear, as I said in the

         21  testimony, was the fear that one, have people

         22  stranded in subway tunnels, that kind of might take

         23  the system down on their own. And I told them, don't

         24  take anything down. Give us as much notice as

         25  possible. And I was already in touch with the MTA
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          2  saying to them, if the system goes down, how much

          3  time do we need to ensure everyone gets into a

          4  station and all the trains are taken care of? And of

          5  course, I started looking for, as I stated, back up

          6  for that.

          7                 So that gives you an overview. I'm

          8  prepared to answer any questions that you have.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: We've been joined

         10  by Council Member Koppell, and Council Member Foster

         11  from the Bronx.

         12                 Thank you for your testimony,

         13  Commissioner. And, again, we appreciate you being

         14  here today. And I appreciate what you said at the

         15  end, about the situation. Clearly this was a

         16  situation unprecedented almost in the history of the

         17  City, where we've had a situation where an area was

         18  out for over a week, and the situations and the

         19  steps that got us to this point are still perplexing

         20  to me and I'm sure to you as well, but in your

         21  testimony you were stating that you had been aware

         22  since Monday, Monday the 17th, that Con Edison had

         23  lost five of 22 feeders in the Long Island City

         24  network, and it implemented an eight percent voltage

         25  reduction. And you sent representatives to both
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          2  their regional control center in Brooklyn and their

          3  main distribution command post in Irving Place, to

          4  assess and monitor the situation.

          5                 As part of your requirements, isn't

          6  it under the OEM protocol that one of your external

          7  action responsibilities is to immediately set up

          8  your port team that you're calling it now, or your

          9  Emergency Response Team, at that particular point?

         10                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: At that point we

         11  did not have our port team. We created that as a

         12  response to this emergency.

         13                 We have not seen Con Ed be so far off

         14  in their numbers. We deal with these people every

         15  day, as you well know, you all know this. There are

         16  feeders that go in and out, last night, the night

         17  before, several times yesterday, especially in the

         18  hot weather, and we monitor every one of them. We

         19  have never seen Con Ed be off by the factor of 10

         20  that we've seen here.

         21                 Obviously if we had the port team, we

         22  would have implemented it. The port team would have

         23  been created as a result of this, as one of the

         24  things we know we're going to have to do whenever

         25  there is a substantial outage.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right. But once

          3  you knew that there was a major problem on Monday

          4  and you had people on site at Con Edison, which you

          5  say throughout your testimony, and on Tuesday

          6  afternoon, you had the Citywide operational center

          7  established, you had already established cooling

          8  centers based on the weather.

          9                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: You had already

         11  established some other things based on the weather,

         12  and you had been asking certain agencies to do power

         13  reduction, and including Citibank, I think you said,

         14  on -- when was Citibank shut down on?

         15                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: On Wednesday.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: On Wednesday.

         17                 When did you think that the Con

         18  Edison numbers that you were receiving, as far as

         19  actual outages, on their opinion, as opposed to the

         20  feedback that you were getting from people already

         21  in the field? When did you realize the discrepancy?

         22                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Well, obviously

         23  Thursday morning, we started seeing the numbers, and

         24  that's why I think we realized the outage was much

         25  greater.

                                                            40

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 One of the things about the system,

          3  which I know you went over in great detail with

          4  Kevin Burke, and all I want to say is that this

          5  system, the way it is designed, will not necessarily

          6  have outages if their feeder is down, everyone pulls

          7  off the same system and provides their sufficient

          8  power. We were concerned that the number of feeders

          9  down, there would not be enough power for all the

         10  people pulling, and we were concerned that the

         11  system would crash. But we learned, and we believe

         12  that the information we got on Thursday morning

         13  prompted me to do what we did, which is bring out

         14  substantial City resources on Thursday afternoon.

         15                 Our going to Con Ed when we were

         16  there there was nothing that indicated to us the

         17  outage was broader than they had indicated, 1,700

         18  customers.

         19                 We also don't know, and I don't know

         20  yet, and I don't think you do yet, perhaps we will

         21  once the PSC does its investigation, of how did this

         22  progress.

         23                 I don't believe on Monday you had all

         24  these people out. I believe it probably progressed

         25  over time, the stress on the system, more and more
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          2  areas started in the grid, started failing and you

          3  went from, Con Ed originally indicated 1,700

          4  customers, 25,000. Clearly they were wrong Friday.

          5  We had 25,000 on Thursday. What we had on Wednesday,

          6  I can't tell you exactly. There was no way for us to

          7  know that.

          8                 When we go to the center, we are

          9  looking at how many feeders were down, and what we

         10  see from Con Ed. What we saw from Con Ed was about

         11  1,700 customers to 2,000.

         12                 Just to go to our 3-1-1 issue, which

         13  I know you want to get to, the numbers we had from

         14  3-1-1, which I basically get the next morning when

         15  they're complete, Monday showed about 944 people

         16  out, which is consistent with what Con Ed was

         17  saying. I looked at those numbers on Tuesday. On

         18  Tuesday, about 2,100 people out. I saw those numbers

         19  Wednesday morning, and that was consistent still

         20  with Con Ed's numbers.

         21                 Wednesday's numbers, which I looked

         22  at at Thursday, showed me about 4,800 out. And I was

         23  getting other information Thursday morning that

         24  indicated to us from the Police Department and from

         25  other elected officials who are here. I mean, there

                                                            42

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  is more happening here than meets the eye. And at

          3  that point obviously we mobilized and by 12:00 noon

          4  we had substantial forces in the field on Thursday.

          5                 So, we were looking at the data early

          6  on. And I know in the Assembly testimony I made a

          7  statement that we didn't see a spike. What I meant

          8  by that was, the numbers were still consistent with

          9  what Con Ed was saying early on, and looking at Con

         10  Ed's numbers, they didn't know. They clearly didn't

         11  know. They didn't say a word about it possibly being

         12  more than 1,700. And we, in looking at what they

         13  were doing, which was mainly working on their

         14  feeders, did not tell us there was more than that.

         15                 Our new system port will not be

         16  perfect, but I will tell you one thing, our people

         17  will go out now and will use aviation. We will start

         18  seeing what's happening. We will send police

         19  door-to-door, and we will see whether when Con Ed

         20  tells us there's 1,700 out, there are actually 1,700

         21  out. If it's too late? Absolutely. Should I have

         22  done this the week before? I should have. But this

         23  is what you learn at times.

         24                 I've never seen Con Ed be so far off

         25  in their numbers. I mean, we deal with them every
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          2  day, and I don't know what happened in this network.

          3  I'd like to, and ultimately, and I will ultimately

          4  review what the PSC comes out with and your own

          5  reports, to see what is it about this network that

          6  made it go down so severely when all the other

          7  networks were operating quite well during that heat

          8  emergency.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         10                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: I've gone on too

         11  long, I'm sorry.

         12                 I've answered some of your questions

         13  maybe.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: You've answered a

         15  lot of questions in one swoop, but I think we'll be

         16  going back to the specific parts on them and since,

         17  you know, I want to be fair to the two members that

         18  were most affected, I don't want to hog all the

         19  questions, but I have an issue with the fact that

         20  you have people on site at the Con Ed Emergency

         21  Center, and they, and you're saying that your people

         22  on site at the center could only give you an idea of

         23  what was happening, as far as the feeders are going

         24  up and down, and just from the Con Ed's perspective

         25  at the Center, I think that one of the things that
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          2  we might want to recommend on top is that we try to

          3  do a little bit more with the personnel that are

          4  working within the center to give you a better

          5  instant time recognition of what the enormity of the

          6  problem was.

          7                 From our investigation so far, the

          8  Long Island City network, that particular network is

          9  the worst network in the City, with the highest

         10  amount of outages, the highest amount of repair

         11  problems, probably some of the oldest lines in the

         12  City and has been, especially since '99, been a

         13  network with the highest amount of repairs. So,

         14  clearly that network is a problem system, which

         15  should have been split and given to networks at

         16  least five years ago, but that's just something FYI,

         17  for your information, for how we respond between now

         18  and the time that they totally improve that network.

         19  But clearly, from our investigation, we've found

         20  that that's the network that has been the most

         21  perplexing for Con Ed to maintain and realizing that

         22  that grid has also increased in usage, we have major

         23  businesses in that increase, within that network

         24  that have expanded their services, and that

         25  particular area is undergoing a major expansion. One
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          2  of the things that we'll be asking for is for Con Ed

          3  to double the capacity of that network by putting

          4  more substantions in there.

          5                 But my main focus is as far as OEM is

          6  concerned is about how OEM was able to understand

          7  the information that was interpreted to it or sent

          8  to it by both Con Ed and by both the 3-1-1 calls.

          9  The Real Time Management are the 3-1-1 calls and

         10  we'll probably be doing another joint hearing just

         11  on the 3-1-1 system, but it seems that there was

         12  even a problem in interpretation of the 3-1-1 calls

         13  from the people that were able to call. Because

         14  clearly, within a power outage, most people have

         15  wireless phones and they don't have a hard-line

         16  back-up, so you didn't even get the entire call

         17  network, because a lot of people were not able to

         18  call 3-1-1.

         19                 And then when 3-1-1 did not get the

         20  specific addresses or locations of these problems,

         21  and the power outage, it seemed that there was no

         22  way for OEM to even track the enormity of it. And I

         23  think that's something that we're going to have to

         24  work on.

         25                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Can I just add
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          2  something on that? One of the things we will work on

          3  with DoITT, which runs 3-1-1, is to try to get real

          4  time display at our watch command, so we can

          5  actually see when calls are coming in where they are

          6  and if they're power-related obviously, we would be

          7  able to see a blip coming up showing there was a

          8  problem in particular areas. That would be of

          9  assistance to us, and we have already started to

         10  work with 3-1-1 on that.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         12                 I have many other questions but I

         13  don't want to dominate the whole hearing. I will, as

         14  I did last time, share, as I see my two Council

         15  members both chomping at the bit with some

         16  questions, and so I'm going to turn it over to my

         17  co-chair Peter Vallone, then Council Member Gioia

         18  and then Council Member Katz for questioning.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         21  Council Member Comrie, again, for being so gracious

         22  and keeping your questions short.

         23                 Commissioner Bruno, you said you had

         24  never seen Con Ed be so off on their numbers. You're

         25  aware of their history, their history of lies since
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          2  pretty much the inception. Since, you know, in 1995

          3  they were found guilty for releasing asbestos into

          4  the air and then lying about it, and placed on

          5  federal probation basically and a monitor was placed

          6  over them, and the judge said he was very concerned

          7  about their tendency to hide the truth, the bad news

          8  from the public.

          9                 You know that one of your

         10  predecessors, Mr. Shire, an OEM Commissioner, stated

         11  when he took office that, quote, "In the past

         12  officials at OEM have found Con Ed to be

         13  unresponsive to our needs for information during

         14  electrical crises." And that's just a few of many,

         15  many quotes from basically anyone who has ever dealt

         16  with Con Ed, which proves that they have lied over

         17  and over again.

         18                 So, I'm a little, you know,

         19  disappointed that we expected them here to act any

         20  differently than they've acted every time in the

         21  past, and we'll get into that.

         22                 Let me start with your testimony. I

         23  notice on your testimony, first page, July 14th,

         24  Friday, to Sunday, July 16th, you never mentioned

         25  any contact with Con Edison. When was your first
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          2  contact with Con Edison?

          3                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: On Monday.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: On Monday.

          5                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, the Public

          7  Service Commission testified at Assemblyman

          8  Genaris's hearing, they testified that they opened

          9  up a district command center on Sunday, July 16th.

         10  So, might I assume that they would open up a

         11  district command center and not even notify OEM

         12  about that?

         13                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: No, they did.

         14  They are on the Heat Emergency Steering Committee.

         15  So, on that call, which occurred on Sunday, they

         16  were on that call. So they are a member of the Heat

         17  Steering Committee. At that point we were dealing

         18  with the heat upcoming for the next two days. The

         19  heat indices were considered to be 100 to 104

         20  degrees. So, we got them into, they opened up their

         21  command center for the Heat essentially. It wasn't

         22  until the following day or next two days when the

         23  feeder situation became worse and worse. But on

         24  Sunday we did speak to Con Ed about the heat, about

         25  system load, which is something we always talk to
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          2  them about, what is their maximum capacity, and what

          3  --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And on Sunday

          5  they gave you no indication there was any potential

          6  feeder problems?

          7                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: No.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay. So, on

          9  Monday they finally call you and tell you four

         10  feeders are down and --

         11                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Citywide.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Citywide,

         13  exactly, and this did not appear to be abnormal. On

         14  Monday evening, according to your testimony, "we

         15  were notified that Con Ed had lost five of its total

         16  22 feeders. According to Con Ed, this was

         17  transparent to customers." What does that mean?

         18  Because Council Member Gioia and I can tell you what

         19  we received numerous calls, and people were grabbing

         20  us on the street. Your own 3-1-1 received 819 calls

         21  on Monday, and your testimony says "This loss of

         22  power is transparent to customers," what does that

         23  mean?

         24                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: I think what they

         25  mean by that is, one, they instituted an eight
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          2  percent voltage reduction, which they advised was

          3  transparent to customers. I'm not an electrical

          4  engineer, what they say is they can reduce the

          5  voltage in the system, which saves some load on the

          6  system, that should not affect people's ability to

          7  have lights to run their equipment. It might run a

          8  little slower, according to them, some of their

          9  motors might run slower, depending on the equipment,

         10  but by and large, people will have their power, and

         11  that was their position, and they've done both the

         12  reductions and they did it even during the heat

         13  emergency that occurred subsequent to this.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So they lied to

         15  you beginning on Monday, as I said from the

         16  beginning.

         17                 Now, you have on Tuesday, July 18th,

         18  that at this point the City's response was focused

         19  on taking appropriate steps to prevent the network

         20  from going down.

         21                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Right.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Estimates show

         23  that without load reduction measures, as many as

         24  100,000 customers could be affected.

         25                 So, you were spending your time doing
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          2  what you should do, and trying to prevent further

          3  damage, to prevent 100,000 customers from being

          4  affected, while about 100,000 customers were already

          5  affected on Tuesday. And I will debate anyone who

          6  tells me that wasn't the case. Because on Tuesday we

          7  had a massive, massive blackout. And this number of

          8  100,000 is ridiculous. I represent 170,000 people,

          9  Eric Gioia represents 170,000 people. Most of the

         10  people in both of our districts had no power. So, on

         11  Tuesday, while you were trying to prevent 100,000

         12  customers from being affected, 100,000 customers

         13  were affected.

         14                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Just so we clear

         15  up the term. The term customer in Con Ed --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I'm sorry,

         17  people.

         18                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Yes. Customer

         19  represents about 350,000 people. So that's the

         20  difference. And that's what I meant by that.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, I meant

         22  people.

         23                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Right.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So, you were

         25  trying to stop 100,000 customers --
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          2                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Twenty-five

          3  thousand customers are --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, 100,000

          5  people were already affected.

          6                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: I don't know that

          7  to be so. I don't know if all were out on Tuesday. I

          8  don't know the answer to that.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I think it's

         10  safe to say you can believe me well before you can

         11  believe Con Ed.

         12                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: I don't doubt

         13  you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And I'm telling

         15  you it was much closer to 100,000 people than 400

         16  customers like they were saying.

         17                 Now, let's get to the crux of this.

         18  On Wednesday afternoon, going by your testimony,

         19  5:00 Wednesday, pretty much the height of the

         20  blackout, you were told that Con Ed predicted that

         21  they had some feeders coming back on, the network

         22  would hold, and to quote you, "At this point there

         23  was no suggestion that we should expect large scale

         24  outages as a result of keeping the network out."

         25                 So, you were dealing with Con Ed,
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          2  hundreds of thousands of people have no power, they

          3  are misleading, lying to the agency responsible for

          4  protecting the safety of the public in this City; is

          5  that true?

          6                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: I don't know

          7  whether they're lying or not. I don't know what they

          8  know.

          9                 I have a feeling, as we know now,

         10  they don't have a very good way of determining

         11  customer impact, and that I think is obvious.

         12                 What was said to me, this was said

         13  directly to me, they predicted that what we had

         14  earlier in the day, a ten-feeder contingency, ten

         15  out of 22 feeders down, their judgment was, they're

         16  the people who run the system, was that the system

         17  would not withstand that number of feeders down.

         18                 Based on that I said to them, if

         19  you're going to take the system down, you must tell

         20  me that as soon as possible, give me as much advance

         21  notice as possible.

         22                 At 5:00 in the afternoon,

         23  communicating back to me, they were down now only

         24  five feeders out. So, what they basically took the

         25  position was, we're going to stay the course, we're
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          2  going to keep the system up.

          3                 I was obviously putting a lot of

          4  pressure on them saying, I don't want the system

          5  down. I don't want 350,000 people without services.

          6  I mean, the disruption would have been enormous, and

          7  I did not know we had this number of people out at

          8  that point. I was pushing them to keep the system

          9  up. When they came back with five down out of the

         10  ten, I said sounds better. Five out of 22, we

         11  probably could sustain it, and they said they

         12  probably could sustain it.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: On Wednesday

         14  evening, the height of the blackout, hundreds of

         15  thousands of people have no power, and Con Ed is

         16  telling you that we should not expect large scale

         17  outages as a result of keeping the network up.

         18                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: They never

         19  suggested anything about large scale outages. They

         20  never did.

         21                 They didn't actually say anything

         22  about that. It was never suggested there would be.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I'll reiterate

         24  what I said many, many times about Con Ed's

         25  leadership, they're either pathetically incompetent
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          2  and need to resign, or criminally negligent and need

          3  to go to jail. That is inexcusable, that they are

          4  misleading, in fact lying to the Commissioner

          5  responsible for responding to an emergency.

          6  Inexcusable. Despicable.

          7                 Now, let's move on. Thursday morning,

          8  Con Ed continues to advise us they believed about

          9  1,700 customers were without power. That, by the

         10  way, is when Assemblymember Genaris and Gioia and

         11  myself had the massive press conference, which I

         12  think was the beginning of the end of Con Ed's lie

         13  when the press, thank God they came out, came to

         14  Astoria, they had no reason to come to Astoria

         15  before this because they listened to Con Ed, 400

         16  customers were out, big deal. But when they came in

         17  on Thursday, they saw and conveyed to everyone the

         18  devastation that was occurring in Queens, and that

         19  was the end. And I believe personally that Con Ed

         20  was hoping they would fix the power outage before

         21  anyone knew they were lying, and then they could

         22  say, oh, the silly little Council members, they

         23  don't know what they're talking about. But, you

         24  know, the press came in and the lie died. They were

         25  still telling you on Thursday morning, 1,700
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          2  customers were out. But on Thursday, by then you had

          3  received 4,800 calls on Wednesday, basically,

          4  another 2,700 calls on Thursday, so you knew based

          5  on your own evidence and the anecdotal evidence you

          6  suggest that you received, obviously, from phone

          7  calls from myself and others --

          8                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: I spoke to you, I

          9  spoke to Assemblyman Genaris, Councilman Gioia,

         10  Assemblywoman Nolan, Councilman Crowley --

         11  Congressman Crowley. So, we had spoken around, and

         12  obviously we were receiving information from our own

         13  people. Once we realized the extent of that we

         14  brought out the --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Let me say

         16  again, you know, how professional your response was

         17  when it came, and I remember speaking to you, I

         18  believe it was Thursday afternoon when you said what

         19  do you need, and I said I need everything you have.

         20  I need every resource available, I need it in ten

         21  minutes, and you did that somehow. In fact, 20

         22  minutes after our phone call, Commissioner Kelly was

         23  in my office, and the community, you know, had

         24  everything it needed.

         25                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Can I just add
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          2  one thing, which I hope you don't mind. But your

          3  father called me also --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I can't stop

          5  him.

          6                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: We talked in the

          7  morning.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: He didn't tell

          9  me he did that.

         10                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: He called and

         11  also gave me advice.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I cannot stop

         13  him.

         14                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: That's what you

         15  said when I told you earlier.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I heard he was a

         17  little animated, too, when he spoke to you.

         18                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: He was.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I have to be

         20  more reserved as an elected official. He no longer

         21  has to be. But apparently I wasn't the first Peter

         22  Vallone from Astoria to have called you that day.

         23  But we did speak prior to that day also.

         24                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Let me jump
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          2  around a little bit. Obviously I said that you

          3  provided a great response. I do have a problem with

          4  one portion of that response, however. Your own

          5  testimony says that when it comes to the Fire

          6  Department -- well, it was in one of your prior

          7  statements that you issued. Oh, "The FDNY moved its

          8  engine and ladder company into the field for the

          9  duration of the outage, as well as opening up one of

         10  the locations as a feeding center, and EMS moved

         11  onto the street." Basically that's it.

         12                 That's a little disturbing. We had

         13  thousands of police officers flooding the streets,

         14  in fact, 32 additional sanitation units, but not one

         15  additional fire unit. I'm aware that the Fire

         16  Department has reserves, why weren't they called

         17  out?

         18                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Well, I requested

         19  directly of Commissioner Scoppetta to bring all the

         20  resources out into the street, and he did that. And

         21  Commissioner Scoppetta's position was, he had about

         22  20 units available throughout Queens, which he would

         23  have moved in if the need arose.

         24                 Our main need in that area was for

         25  traffic movement, protection, lighting, emergency
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          2  care. We brought in the resources we thought

          3  necessary.

          4                 Fires were being handled. There were

          5  no major fires. Some manhole fires, those were being

          6  handled by FDNY. They were coming in and cooling off

          7  heated cables. They were flooding some manholes so

          8  that they could cool off and be worked on.

          9                 I believe that what they did was what

         10  we needed. They did get out into the street, which

         11  is important for, I think for resident confidence,

         12  that they could see uniformed people out in the

         13  street as well, along with the Police Department.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: The Fire

         15  Department did an excellent job. I was out in the

         16  streets every day watching them respond to manhole

         17  cover explosions and fires burning up before our

         18  eyes and falling to the ground. In fact, I was told

         19  by one of my sources that a normal amount of runs

         20  for the month of July would be 250, they did 650

         21  this July, and 95 percent of that increase was

         22  manhole covers and wires, which were burning off the

         23  poles. They handled it. We're lucky they handled it.

         24  They would stretch their limits, and I'm not sure

         25  why the City didn't provide additional resources to
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          2  the Fire Department, as they did with every other

          3  agency that was out there. I believe it was a

          4  mistake, I don't think you would do that again, but

          5  I just wanted to make that point here for you, that

          6  next time this happens that is something that should

          7  be done, especially when hundreds of thousands of

          8  people are out and the Fire Department is taxed to

          9  its limits.

         10                 But that was one problem I had with

         11  the overwhelming response that the City gave us

         12  Thursday afternoon.

         13                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: I have some

         14  familiarity with the Fire Department, and what they

         15  did is they relocated more units and whatever units

         16  were working. So, I'm sure, I didn't really discuss

         17  this directly with Commissioner Scoppetta and ask

         18  where it occurred, but I know that he would have

         19  relocated immediately, any unit that was working,

         20  bring in a back-up unit from an adjoining area.

         21  Whether he would use reserves, I don't know if he

         22  did that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: They did

         24  relocate some, which leaves those other areas

         25  without the protection they need, and the problem is
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          2  they did not put one firefighter who actually

          3  responded to emergencies on overtime, and did not

          4  call in the reserves as they've done in the past.

          5  But we'll move on.

          6                 Your power disruption guide gives you

          7  the power to declare a blackout; did you actually

          8  declare a phase I, II or III blackout in this

          9  situation?

         10                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: No. Phase -- let

         11  me just look at my notes on that.

         12                 Based on what we had, more than 3,000

         13  customers would be a phase II. We would, more than

         14  3,000 in a three-block area would be a phase I. The

         15  numbers we had originally we did not, and we just

         16  didn't have those numbers.

         17                 Ultimately, yes, we did, when

         18  Thursday we recognized the real numbers. We just did

         19  not have those numbers in front of us.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I know you

         21  didn't, and I just think it's amazing that during

         22  the worst blackout in New York City history we

         23  didn't even declare a blackout because Con Ed was so

         24  incompetent.

         25                 You actually made a statement and you
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          2  said that -- give me one moment here to move my

          3  papers around -- that the response, quote, "was far

          4  ahead of what the response would have been if we had

          5  only relied on Con Ed estimates." Now, that's very

          6  important, because as you know, there will be a

          7  number of lawsuits, and we'll go into reimbursements

          8  eventually, but there will be a number of lawsuits

          9  from the people of Queens, because they were damaged

         10  far in excess of the amount of money they are being

         11  reimbursed by Con Ed. And much of their lawsuit will

         12  be based on the fact that they received no help from

         13  the City because Con Ed lied to the City. So, when

         14  you say you responded far in advance of what you

         15  would have done if you relied on Con Ed estimates,

         16  when do you believe you would have responded? I

         17  mean, we did only respond basically on Thursday,

         18  when would we have responded had you relied on Con

         19  Ed estimates? Or would you have responded at all?

         20                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: If in fact we

         21  only had 1,700 customers out, we would have sent

         22  responders out there. We might have located our MDC

         23  out there, our van and our command centers. We more

         24  than likely would have had people on the ground and

         25  we would have asked the Police Department to assist,
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          2  but we would not have reached a level that we

          3  reached when we realized we had 25,000 customers.

          4  Once we realized that, we had massive equipment and

          5  personnel out in the field.

          6                 Had we seen 1,700, 2,000, we would

          7  have had a response. We always have a response.

          8  We're out there. We would monitor. If we realized

          9  this was going to go an extended period, we would

         10  have opened up centers perhaps, if that was

         11  required, more cooling centers. We would have done

         12  the more moderate response. The large scale response

         13  was caused by the fact that we went from what we

         14  thought was a relatively small outage to a massive

         15  outage.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay. A large

         17  scale response was after my father called you,

         18  right?

         19                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: I got a lot of

         20  information that day from you and from others, and

         21  our own people, including the Police Department. Con

         22  Ed never came up with a 25,000 number til Friday. I

         23  mean, we had, our sense of it was much greater and

         24  we were telling them that's just not an accurate

         25  number any longer.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, as I said,

          3  their number was Friday morning, and it was after

          4  the press came into Astoria, they could no longer

          5  hide the lies they were putting out there. But you

          6  were aware, I mean, are you aware of how Con Ed

          7  estimates the extent of a blackout? Your job as OEM

          8  is to delineate the borders of any disaster. You

          9  need to know who is affected in a blackout in order

         10  to determine what the borders are of this disaster.

         11  You were given bad information, you couldn't do it.

         12                 Were you aware that Con Ed had no

         13  system in place to give you the information that's

         14  necessary for you to protect the public?

         15                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: I'm disappointed

         16  in the system they used. I probably was not aware of

         17  the frailty in the system. Clearly, I've had

         18  discussions with them in the past about their idea

         19  of customers, and that customers can be, one

         20  customer can represent many, many people depending

         21  on the number of meters, and that's how they work. I

         22  understood that. So, we take a look at what they

         23  give us by way of numbers and looking at customers

         24  in assessing a quantifier, a number that would make

         25  it greater. But I've never seen them to be off by
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          2  this type of a number. They were predicting 1,700 to

          3  2,000 customers, they were off by ten times the

          4  amount.

          5                 And Wednesday evening we started

          6  getting information from police saying it was

          7  broader, I didn't know quite the extent of it.

          8  Thursday morning we did know the extent of it.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I just don't

         10  think they've ever been caught before. I think

         11  they've done this pretty much in every blackout but

         12  there's no way for you or anyone to independently

         13  verify. So, what have you done --

         14                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: They need to do a

         15  lot on that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Oh, absolutely.

         17                 Were you aware that their system was

         18  to base the extent of the blackout on phone calls

         19  from people without phones into a system that

         20  doesn't accept phone calls? That's basically what

         21  they had in place.

         22                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: I've heard a lot

         23  about their system, it's not very impressive.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Yes.

         25                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: They are the
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          2  entity required to provide electric service to our

          3  City, you know, and they have that authority to do

          4  that. I'm very unimpressed with the way they've done

          5  that.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: This is the

          7  system they've relied upon in the past. Now, what

          8  have you put in place to ensure that in a future

          9  blackout we don't rely on Con Ed. We should be able

         10  to and we're going to have hearings to figure out

         11  why, why we weren't able to and what we can do to

         12  ensure Con Ed actually lives up to its

         13  responsibilities. But you have your own

         14  responsibilities, so what have you done now in the

         15  future to help you determine the extent of a

         16  blackout?

         17                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Well, we've

         18  created a protocol now for the Police Department,

         19  Fire Department, OEM and the Community Assistance

         20  Unit, that when we get a call of 1,000 customers, or

         21  a significant impact, it doesn't have to be 1,000

         22  customers, if we see that we will activate the port

         23  team, which we've done already seven times in the

         24  last four weeks, send them out, and begin at any

         25  time of the day or night, obviously, do a survey of
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          2  the area, door-to-door, using NYPD, our own

          3  resources, and Fire, if they're available and can do

          4  it.

          5                 We also run up the Census data and

          6  the affected areas immediately after we can outline

          7  what we see as an affected area, so we have an idea

          8  of who is there. And obviously if we see a need, we

          9  will break out the resources at that point.

         10                 We also bring Con Ed to the scene,

         11  they will be there anyway, we'll bring their

         12  management there and tell them you are off on your

         13  number. So, we are no longer accepting those

         14  numbers, as we had for years.

         15                 Con Ed, you have a very strong view

         16  on Con Ed. My position, as far as Commissioner, is

         17  they have to communicate with me on a regular basis.

         18  The one thing they do is they communicate. Whether

         19  they give me accurate information, and I gather you

         20  don't think they do each time, they don't each time,

         21  they clearly didn't this time. They're required to

         22  communicate with us on a regular basis. That we do

         23  have, and that is good, that's important, and that's

         24  important to keep this entire City going on a

         25  regular basis.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I have so many

          3  more questions, but I know my colleagues are waiting

          4  and I know Eric wants to go into 3-1-1 specifics,

          5  and vulnerable populations, and how they're notified

          6  and things like that. So, I'm going to end up with

          7  one last question. You mentioned communication, and

          8  I'm going to put you on the hot seat now.

          9                 Do you believe that Con Ed's

         10  leadership did a good job communicating and

         11  cooperating with you over the course of this crisis,

         12  and giving you the information necessary for you to

         13  do your job to protect the public?

         14                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: See, I think they

         15  communicated well with us on a regular basis. I

         16  think the failure was the information was not good.

         17  I mean, they did not have good information. They

         18  certainly gave me information. There's no question

         19  about that. Their information was not accurate, and

         20  they need to work on that.

         21                 Let me just go back to the earlier

         22  point on what we're doing also.

         23                 We will utilize PV aviation more and

         24  more to give us situational awareness, and we will

         25  use 3-1-1 data now as we work it into our system to
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          2  give us immediate information about blips in the

          3  system, where calls are coming from, so we can at

          4  least identify areas of concern.

          5                 All I can say on the communication is

          6  clearly they talk to us. We're on the phone with

          7  them regularly. We're on the phone with them every

          8  several hours, going over and over what they were

          9  doing. We never got the final information from them,

         10  we got it from ourselves.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I'm kind of

         12  dumbfounded by that. Just the fact that you believe

         13  they communicated, that they didn't tell you

         14  anything, because that's exactly the same thing they

         15  did with us.

         16                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Councilman, I

         17  don't know if they knew, that's the question. I have

         18  to find out -- I don't know if they knew, or the

         19  system is so flawed they just didn't know. I don't

         20  know the answer to that.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We will find out

         22  they either knew and lied or incompetent. But the

         23  fact is, they discussed with myself also every few

         24  hours, they stayed in constant communication and

         25  never told us a darn thing. Never gave us any useful
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          2  information, never told us when the blackout would

          3  end, never told us the extent of the damage, despite

          4  the fact that I asked them every 20 minutes when

          5  would this end. I've been on the record many, many

          6  times about the difference it would have made, had

          7  we know it was a long blackout, or as opposed to one

          8  that would end in an hour, like most blackouts. And

          9  I won't go into that again.

         10                 But I think we agree, even though you

         11  didn't say it the way I would have, with the fact

         12  that they did not do a good job, giving you the

         13  information you needed to protect the public. I wish

         14  other people would share that sentiment, but we'll

         15  move on now.

         16                 So, I thank you. I'll be back with

         17  some more questions, I'm sure, after my colleagues

         18  are done. But I want to end, even though I have a

         19  lot more, just to give everyone else a chance. Thank

         20  you, again, for the response that we did get, it was

         21  amazing.

         22                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you,

         24  Council Member Vallone.

         25                 Commissioner, your primary
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          2  responsibility, as you saw it, was to try to keep

          3  Long Island City up and keep the emergency services

          4  available.

          5                 You stated in your testimony that you

          6  were trying and doing everything you could with OEM

          7  to try to keep the network running. What do you see

          8  as your ability? Or you know, you have one person,

          9  or I don't know how many people, that goes to Con

         10  Ed's operation center, did you, as part of your

         11  early assessment, decide to bring in a better team

         12  into Con Ed in the inception to monitor their

         13  operation center?

         14                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: I had very good

         15  people. I sent people to Con Ed who were very

         16  qualified, know the system, know Con Ed people to

         17  get there and up and running. We maintained

         18  continual contact with them. They were on all the

         19  conference calls as well, my own people. Plus they

         20  were providing us information in the emergency

         21  operation center. If we had an issue, we were

         22  communicating directly with our people first, and

         23  with Con Ed in our emergency operation center. They

         24  were located in our center also, as we were in

         25  theirs.
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          2                 So, I felt comfortable with the

          3  people I had. I had good people there.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And you're saying

          5  the breakdown in communications as far as the real

          6  impact really was a failure from Con Edison to

          7  transmit the true impact or the nature within the

          8  community. I'm not quite clear on what you're saying

          9  there.

         10                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: I don't think

         11  that they knew. They may have, as Councilman Vallone

         12  has stated, they may very well have known and not

         13  stated it to us, or they may not just simply have

         14  understood it. Their system is flawed, there is no

         15  question. I think Kevin Burke has stated it several

         16  times. They do not have, or did not have a good

         17  system of determining customer impact. It's pretty

         18  clear they did not.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. Who else

         20  participates in the decision-making process to deal

         21  with power disruption operations?

         22                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: I have about 40

         23  members of the committee.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: If the committee

         25  is under your auspices based on the information that
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          2  you're getting from Con Edison? Or is it now with

          3  your new process based on the information you're

          4  getting from the field?

          5                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: In the port

          6  teams, the four agencies would be NYPD, FDNY,

          7  Community Assistance Unit and OEM.

          8                 With regard to a power outage, we

          9  will bring in about 40 different agencies, many of

         10  whom I discussed around the field are there as well,

         11  and we're monitoring everything that is going on in

         12  the area. As well as you know we were out in Astoria

         13  Park, in fact, I lived out there for about five

         14  days, making sure that we had a good field operation

         15  out there as well.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes, once you

         17  knew the extent of the problem. And so now you will

         18  do the primary assessment yourself and not wait for

         19  Con Edison, and that's what you've established all

         20  this time.

         21                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Absolutely. We

         22  are doing that right now. It's one of the reasons we

         23  created the new protocol.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. All right,

         25  I'm going to turn it over to Council Member Gioia.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Can you just

          3  introduce who you are with? I may have missed that,

          4  but I don't believe you put it on the record.

          5                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Karen Gerstein,

          6  who is our press officer, and actually Cole Berg,

          7  who is one of our assistants in the office.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

          9                 Council Member Gioia.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you very

         11  much, Mr. Chair.

         12                 And for the record, my dad would have

         13  called as well, but he didn't have your phone number

         14  or power for that matter. He was quite upset in the

         15  flower shop, as you know.

         16                 I really do want to reiterate, by the

         17  way, that once you got on the ground, I mean it was

         18  a pleasure working with you, and all the City

         19  agencies. It was an impressive showing, and I know

         20  you worked hand-in-hand with myself and Assemblyman

         21  Genaris and Council Member Vallone and other elected

         22  officials in the neighborhood.

         23                 A couple of different areas that I

         24  want to talk about. First, you know, we talked about

         25  the final number that Con Ed gives out, the 20,000
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          2  customers, potentially 100,000 people. That's kind

          3  of the number we kind of settled on. We really don't

          4  know that that's the actual number. It's still just

          5  a Con Ed number at this point, right?

          6                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: I don't know the

          7  exact number, right?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I mean, it's

          9  kind of we reached consensus with the media and

         10  amongst us. We kind of throw the 100 person number

         11  out, but it could be far bigger than that.

         12                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Well, that's Con

         13  Ed's number. They give something like 25,432, or

         14  something like that.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I mean, again,

         16  we have not independently verified it. On day two or

         17  three of this I say it could be a quarter of a

         18  million people, it still could have been a quarter

         19  of a million people affected, when you look at the

         20  boundaries on a map and you drive around a

         21  neighborhood, you just do the rough population

         22  counts, it could be well over 100,000 people. And I

         23  say that, I do want to make the record clear,

         24  because we talk about the Queens blackout as 100,000

         25  people, but it could have been -- I think eventually
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          2  we may find out that it was far worse than 100,000

          3  people for nine days without power.

          4                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: I think when we

          5  receive the reports, we may ultimately find it was

          6  greater, or we may find they were accurate.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: What's very

          8  interesting to me, and like most New Yorkers, like

          9  most New Yorkers I believe that while the power goes

         10  out and Con Ed tells you 2,000 customers, you

         11  believe it, and they do their best to get the power

         12  back on.

         13                 After the experience we lived through

         14  where the power is out for over a week, and we felt

         15  that we were getting misleading statements, I began

         16  to do a little research into history of Con Ed's

         17  disasters, and let me just share with you what I

         18  found. A few quotations.

         19                 Council Member Vallone started with

         20  this. "There was a sense here at certain levels in

         21  the company that you better not tell the bad news."

         22  That's a federal judge in 1989.

         23                 "When you get to the scene of an

         24  emergency and it's Con Ed, their first response is

         25  to minimize their liability, and that is not a great
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          2  help to emergency service workers who are trying to

          3  cope with the problem at hand." That's a senior Fire

          4  Department official in 1998.

          5                 "Assurances from Con Ed that things

          6  would be back to normal in the face of tremendous

          7  heat and record high demand were disingenuous."

          8  That's Jerry Hauer, 1999.

          9                 "A better early warning system needs

         10  to be put in place." That's Dan Andrews in 1996

         11  after 115,000 people were put out.

         12                 "Despite its knowledge of the

         13  situation, and despite their knowledge of the law

         14  and requirements of its own procedures, Con Ed made

         15  misleading statements to the public and to local and

         16  federal officials." And that's the United States

         17  Attorney in 1989.

         18                 And here is again 1989. "Con Edison's

         19  corporate culture historically has discouraged

         20  honest reporting of environmental problems."

         21                 Now, given this history, going

         22  through a toxic transformer in Staten Island in

         23  1998, a gas explosion in Flushing in 1996, a

         24  blackout in Queens in 1996, a steampipe exploding in

         25  1989, the one thing all this has in common is that
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          2  Con Ed, their knee-jerk reaction, you open up the

          3  Con Ed playbook, it's mislead the public. Mislead

          4  officials. This is their history, is it not?

          5                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Well, based on

          6  what you stated, obviously you think it is. And

          7  clearly they have problems. I'm familiar with their

          8  problems and their asbestos release in Manhattan

          9  when I was in the City Law Department and Fire

         10  Department. So, there's no question they've had a

         11  very spotty history. And I'm assuming those quotes

         12  are accurate. That's how people feel about it.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Well, my

         14  concern is, is that when the utility that is

         15  responsible for keeping the lights on in New York,

         16  one, when they can't keep the lights on, but, two,

         17  when they can't be trusted to tell the truth, what

         18  position does that put us in?

         19                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: I think probably

         20  we're going to have the Public Service Commission

         21  here later today, and my question to them would be

         22  what needs to be done to make the system more

         23  accountable, make it more accurate. And if, in fact,

         24  there are these problems of lack of trust, how can

         25  we make them more trust worthy? Clearly, we need to
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          2  have a power system here in New York, we need the

          3  company to do this, or maybe the regulations where

          4  you go, I don't know, I'm not an expert on that.

          5  However, obviously, there's a lot has to be done

          6  with regard to this company to ensure the public

          7  feels confidence in them, and we feel confidence in

          8  them.

          9                 We're doing some things to help us

         10  have confidence in what we get, and our own

         11  assessment, and clearly they have to be forced to do

         12  things as well. They have greater expertise in their

         13  own system. They are the supplier of power to the

         14  City. I would love to be able to say, get from Con

         15  Ed we have 456 customers out, and that's an accurate

         16  number all through time. I don't have that

         17  confidence any longer, nor do you, obviously, and

         18  we're going to do our best to try to figure out what

         19  the scope of it is. Even our system is not perfect.

         20  Maybe a more perfect system has to be devised here.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Let's be clear,

         22  Commissioner, a perfect system would be wonderful.

         23  We'd love to live in an ideal world. But I would be

         24  satisfied with a less than perfect -- I would be

         25  satisfied with a good system at this point. I mean,
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          2  and pretty clearly, you could have gone to a psychic

          3  on Bleeker Street and got a better estimate of how

          4  many people were out in Queens than Con Edison, you

          5  know?

          6                 And, so, we're not talking about a

          7  system, we're talking about really just having some

          8  reliability. And I guess, you know, I point to this

          9  --

         10                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: I agree with you

         11  on that. We need to have more reliability. I agree

         12  with you 100 percent on that.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you.

         14  Because I look at this history, and to me it really

         15  is a pretty clear history of deceit. And I say,

         16  well, well we should have known better, and we

         17  should have known better before the Queens blackout

         18  that Con Edison can't be relied upon to give

         19  accurate information. And we kind of chuckled up

         20  here when you said, well, they were communicating,

         21  and I don't want to put words in your mouth, but

         22  what I heard was, well, they communicated with me

         23  every day a number of times a day, they just weren't

         24  telling me the truth. And I know you didn't say

         25  that, but that's really what we heard up here. And I
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          2  actually think that's actually accurate, because

          3  they were communicating with all of us, but not

          4  telling us the truth.

          5                 Now, you have you said a plan in

          6  place now, I don't remember what you called it.

          7                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: We call it PORT,

          8  Power Outage Response Team.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Response Team.

         10  P-O-R-T. And it's made up of different agencies.

         11                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Four agencies.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Police

         13  Department, OEM --

         14                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Fire.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Fire.

         16                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: And CAU.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: And CAU.

         18                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Community

         19  Assistance Unit.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: And, so, 1,000

         21  customers reported out, and that's 1,000 customers

         22  by Con Ed's number?

         23                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Yes. So far

         24  still.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Okay, I mean, I
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          2  would obviously encourage that we have something

          3  else, some other --

          4                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: We also have, or

          5  a significant event, in other words, we see a blip

          6  and we're trying to get more current data from

          7  3-1-1, we see a blip that indicates a large outage

          8  somewhere, we'll go out and take a look at that as

          9  well.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: That's good.

         11                 And you know, you and I spoke early

         12  in this, and one of my great frustrations after

         13  speaking with you and speaking with other members of

         14  the Administration is that what I was seeing with my

         15  own eyes was not the information you were getting.

         16  And so it felt a little bit like a crazy person, you

         17  know, running down the street saying, well, look,

         18  I'm seeing something and I wasn't getting the

         19  response that I thought it deserved.

         20                 So, I'm happy to hear you say that

         21  you're going to go out there with the City's own

         22  eyes and ears to see that.

         23                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: In the last four

         24  weeks we've done seven of them.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Which is
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          2  amazing that in the past month you've had to do this

          3  seven times.

          4                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: We have.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Yes.

          6                 But, now, here's the thing. We talk

          7  about Con Ed's deceitful history, and I listened to

          8  the CEO of Con Ed get up here and say, well, we're

          9  the most efficient utility in the United States of

         10  America, and I've seen that in print, and I've seen

         11  that on television, and then I heard in testimony

         12  that the Public Service Commission relies on Con

         13  Edison's self-reporting to determine the level of

         14  efficiency. But that's what they call law

         15  enforcement motive. You've got a company -- because

         16  you look at this, and I know I was talking to folks,

         17  and they were saying why, why would Con Ed lie for a

         18  week about how many people were out? I said, well, I

         19  don't know why, maybe, as Council Member Vallone

         20  said, maybe they just didn't know. Maybe it's just

         21  gross incompetence, and they have absolutely no

         22  idea. But then all of a sudden you realize that

         23  actually there is a motive, a corporate motive, to

         24  minimize the damage that is done.

         25                 If this blackout would have been
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          2  fixed on day three, Thursday morning, well, we

          3  wouldn't be here today. People would think that

          4  Gioia and Vallone and Genaris were crazy. We say

          5  it's a quarter of a million people, Con Ed says it's

          6  2,000 customers. Come on, give me a break, guys.

          7  You're out there exaggerating. I mean, that's really

          8  what would have happened. And the number that has

          9  been reported to the Public Service Commission would

         10  have been 2,000. I believe it could be a quarter of

         11  a million people. And Con Ed would have still been

         12  able to go out there and say, we're the most

         13  efficient utility in the United States of America by

         14  our stock.

         15                 And, so, here we have a history of

         16  deceit. We have a case where they grossly misled the

         17  public and the Mayor, caused more damage because of

         18  it, and now we have a motive. It actually behooves

         19  them, in a sick sense, to mislead the public, and to

         20  mislead the Public Service Commission, in terms of

         21  damage.

         22                 So, what can we do about this?

         23                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Well, I think

         24  from my point of view, from where I sit, I obviously

         25  can no longer rely on their numbers.
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          2                 My position is I have a job to ensure

          3  that I know what's happening in the City, and ensure

          4  the City responds to it properly and cares for its

          5  residents and the public.

          6                 From the broader sense of what you're

          7  talking about, I think that's more properly put to

          8  the Public Service Commission and the other

          9  authorities. The Queens District Attorney is also

         10  buzzing around this issue. I don't know where they

         11  are exactly, but I know that they're doing a lot of

         12  work on it, and they will look to see what's

         13  happened, and somewhere after the reports are done,

         14  we'll get a better view, and I sense that based on

         15  what happened here, the real discrepancy in what

         16  they were reporting and what actually, I believe it

         17  was something like 25,000 and it may be more as you

         18  say, there's a serious problem here. And I'm hopeful

         19  that the Public Service Commission and the others

         20  will determine that there's a problem, this is a

         21  cause, these are the potential changes we can make.

         22                 In our point of view, we made changes

         23  already. We already started changes. We're already

         24  going to look at our power disruption. All the

         25  things we learned, and what we did in Queens, we
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          2  will clarify in our plan to ensure if it happens in

          3  Staten Island, as it did, they went out, 13,000

          4  people, easier to get back on line, but we sent

          5  basically almost the same response, and we're going

          6  to start codifying that. And if this goes Citywide,

          7  we don't have the resources. Area by area we'll do

          8  that. And I think the emergency response agencies

          9  appreciated the opportunity to do that. I think our

         10  people who were out there really felt good about it.

         11  I just go back to Assemblywoman Nolan, who said to

         12  me at the hearing. She said, you know, I wish you

         13  had been out there earlier. Which I understand that.

         14  She said, but when you came out, I became emotional.

         15  My city came out to help the people of this City,

         16  and I think our people felt the same way. I was

         17  there. I was talking to the police and everybody,

         18  talked to all the agencies, all the commissioners,

         19  what else can we do? The Department of Corrections

         20  prepared 5,000 meals and bring them over, and I want

         21  to tell you, these were good meals, and I know

         22  people -- they weren't bologna sandwiches, they were

         23  great meals, and it's the issue of what can I do?

         24  Marty Horn called me, "What can I do? What can I do

         25  to help out?" And Deputy Mayor Gibbs said, what if
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          2  we get some meals out there, hot meals out there, in

          3  the areas most affected? And that was good. That's

          4  just great stuff, and I think our people are ready

          5  to do that.

          6                 I think we have to obviously, the

          7  underlying problem here is deep, and I'm hopeful

          8  that we'll get some clarity out of it. And I know

          9  you're a strong advocate on this, and I think that's

         10  good. I think you are all very strong on this and

         11  that will bring the entities that are investigating

         12  this to come forward and say this is what's wrong,

         13  and this is what we suggest is a solution, and OEM,

         14  you know, you do your job, OEM, you go out and

         15  continue to check until we're confident enough that

         16  what you're getting now is accurate, and that you

         17  don't have to rely on everyone, you can rely on the

         18  numbers. That's my bottom line here.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you for

         20  that. And I concur completely in the City's

         21  response, it was the cavalry coming in. I've got to

         22  tell you, with the emergency response teams, that

         23  was really fantastic. You see volunteers from around

         24  the City coming in and serving meals with the happy

         25  face on. It really was. And you really appreciate
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          2  how great the City is when you see this, so I want

          3  to thank you for that.

          4                 In a few other quick areas. Now, at

          5  some point you testified, Con Ed begins, there's a

          6  dialogue here between the City and Con Ed about

          7  maybe taking the whole grid down.

          8                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: That was between

          9  me and the President and Con Ed.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: When was that?

         11                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: On Wednesday.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: And you said to

         13  them, don't take anything down?

         14                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: What I said to

         15  him is, if you're going to take the system down, you

         16  give me notice. It's really their determination. I

         17  said if you're going to do that, tell me as soon as

         18  possible, so I have enough lead time to get trains

         19  into stations, to prepare buses to start covering

         20  those train routes, and to help people get into

         21  Manhattan back to Queens to their homes. Clearly I

         22  wanted that. I never said to them, don't take it

         23  down. It's not something that I'm competent to do. I

         24  didn't know exactly the damage to their system.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I'm sorry. I
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          2  misunderstood your testimony. I thought you had said

          3  to them, I thought you testified to him -- I thought

          4  you testified you said to him, don't take anything

          5  down.

          6                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: What I meant was,

          7  don't take it down without giving me notice, so I

          8  have enough time. I spoke to the Transit Authority

          9  also, subways, and I said if this goes down, how

         10  much time do you need to get everyone in? He said I

         11  need at minimum 30 to 60 minutes to get all my

         12  trains into stations. We don't want people in

         13  tunnels.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: And the first

         15  time this topic was brought up was Wednesday.

         16                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Wednesday was the

         17  first time I ever talked directly to the President

         18  of the company where I asked him, what is happening?

         19  And he told me in his judgment that with ten feeders

         20  out, the system might have to come down, and that

         21  was our conversation.

         22                 And then later in that day, around

         23  5:00, return call from the President who said we're

         24  at five feeders, we're making progress. What you all

         25  are doing there at OEM and the City, helping to shed
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          2  load, has helped the system and allowed us to bring

          3  more feeders back.

          4                 The feeders were going in and popping

          5  out. Going in and popping out. We were at one time

          6  at three, at five, at six, back to five, up to

          7  seven, back to four, and I kept saying what's going

          8  on here? They didn't know. They clearly did not know

          9  what was happening in that system.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: And the reason

         11  I ask is, at some point there was a decision, or

         12  there was a rolling decision made to roll the dice

         13  so-to-speak, and to see if the system can hold it,

         14  and, well, Con Ed rolled the dice and lost pretty

         15  clearly, and that over 100,000 people, maybe 200,000

         16  were out of power for nine days. And there had been

         17  some, and I guess there had been questions swirling

         18  around from the beginning of what the City's role

         19  was in terms of advising Con Ed, ultimately of

         20  course it is their decision.

         21                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: I didn't advise

         22  them either way. I wasn't competent to do that. They

         23  told me they were thinking of taking the system

         24  down. If they were, I needed as much notice as

         25  possible.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Do you know if

          3  anyone in the City advised them what the City's

          4  position was, whether they would take the system

          5  down?

          6                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: No, I'm sure no

          7  one did.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: In terms of

          9  3-1-1, and New York 1, I have to say, did a very

         10  nice job of finding the 3-1-1 data and actually

         11  demonstrating there was a spike in 3-1-1. When did

         12  you first become aware that 3-1-1 was spiking, of

         13  power outage reports?

         14                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Okay, on Tuesday

         15  I saw the numbers 944. Those were Monday numbers, I

         16  saw them Tuesday morning. So, that was consistent

         17  with what Con Ed is saying about 1,700 customers.

         18                 On Wednesday the numbers went to

         19  2,158. That was Tuesday's calls. That was an

         20  increase, but still in their 2,000 range.

         21                 It was on Thursday when I saw

         22  Wednesday's numbers and went to 4844. I remember

         23  Thursday was the day when we basically said, we can

         24  no longer go -- these numbers are not accurate any

         25  longer, and we heard from you and we heard from lots
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          2  of people at that point and we came out. We heard

          3  from our Police Department as well, starting to tell

          4  us. At late as Wednesday night, saying this is more

          5  than what we're thinking. This is bigger. And on

          6  Thursday morning we confirmed it. We came out.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Do you know

          8  when the average citizen picks up the telephone and

          9  says my power is out, were every one of those

         10  calls logged, or were calls immediately just

         11  transferred to Con Edison?

         12                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: I don't know the

         13  answer to that. I really don't know the answer to

         14  that question.

         15                 They clearly log a power-related

         16  call.

         17                 Do you have something on that?

         18                 The answer is it is logged. I'm sure

         19  they log it as a power-related call, then they pass

         20  it on. But they don't take much detailed

         21  information. As you understand, 3-1-1 gets

         22  tremendous volume of calls. They pass it on to the

         23  higher number.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: One of the

         25  great values of 3-1-1, one of the real values of
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          2  3-1-1 is to aggregate data and share data, so that

          3  we could manage the City better.

          4                 How should 3-1-1 be improved to make

          5  sure that we're getting the real-time data, enabling

          6  decision-makers like yourself and the Mayor to be

          7  making those decisions in an informed way.

          8                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Well, on the

          9  power issue I think we're working with them right

         10  now, and they are certainly receptive to this, to

         11  giving us data displayed, GIS-type data mapping, so

         12  that we can see blips and calls coming in for power

         13  outage, which is an area we're very interested in.

         14  We can't display all of it. And so what they should

         15  do generally, I think that's something you have to

         16  talk to DoITT. I'd rather not speak for them. But on

         17  this issue, I've asked them to work with us, and we

         18  are, putting up graphically indicated blips so we

         19  can see concentrations of a problem.

         20                 It would also give us a good idea, or

         21  some idea of whether what we're hearing from Con Ed

         22  is accurate, based on what we're seeing. It also

         23  gives us the limits sometimes of the area we're

         24  dealing with, because GIS will put it on a map so we

         25  can actually see the borders of it, and then we'll
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          2  send our PORT team out, do the door-to-door, we'll

          3  send the aviation out to give us an idea if things

          4  are out. We have the capacity to do it, and I wish

          5  we had done it earlier, that's all I can say.

          6                 Certainly we have learned something

          7  from this situation.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Council member.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Two last

         10  questions.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Okay.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Short, not

         14  multi-questions.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Two really

         16  quick questions.

         17                 Once the power starts to go back on,

         18  and thank you very much, Mr. Chair, for your

         19  indulgence. Who decides who gets their power back

         20  first?

         21                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Con Ed decides

         22  how it goes back, and it does that based upon system

         23  capacity. Its feeders will come back on, and they

         24  will affect certain areas. In this particular group,

         25  feeders just simply go into a total grid. When you
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          2  get into the grid itself, Con Ed decides, I assume

          3  one of the decisions they were making, where is our

          4  greatest outage, into the manholes there, start

          5  repairing in those areas. The outerlying areas with

          6  fewer individual homes affected or customers

          7  affected would be the later ones to get it. I assume

          8  that's the basis upon which -- that's what I would

          9  do if I were the power company. I would look where

         10  is my greatest conservation of need and I would go

         11  there first and fix them and I think that's what

         12  they did.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I guess we'll

         14  raise those questions later with Con Ed.

         15                 And the final question, and I believe

         16  we've got a special obligation to the most

         17  vulnerable among us, senior citizens, the disabled,

         18  this was an incredible inconvenience for some. This

         19  was devastating to other people's businesses, and it

         20  was outright life threatening for others. And I

         21  believe we have a special obligation to those whose

         22  lives are threatened.

         23                 I don't know that the City had in

         24  place as good a plan that we should to reach out to

         25  senior citizens and those who we need to -- one,
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          2  what could the City have done better to reach out to

          3  vulnerable citizens, to protect them, make sure they

          4  have food and water, and medicine?

          5                 And two, are we now undergoing

          6  analysis across the country at best practices, find

          7  out if other municipalities are reaching out to

          8  their citizens better than we are?

          9                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Well, clearly,

         10  even New York we've done this in our planning for

         11  hurricanes. We have a whole program related to

         12  special needs populations.

         13                 We have to reach out, and we did,

         14  reached out to for example, VNS, Visiting Nurse

         15  Service, and have a lot of people in New York

         16  Community. And we ask them, go out touching base

         17  with your clients so we find out who has what need.

         18                 We also mapped out every building

         19  that was six stories and above, as we assumed

         20  elevators in those buildings, and we went to each

         21  one of those. The power was out, we went into those

         22  buildings, care teams, we set them up.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I don't want to

         24  interrupt you, but when you say you mapped it out,

         25  did you map it out post power going out? Or do we
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          2  have a map? Do you say -- in other words, if the

          3  power were to go out today in Maspeth, would you be

          4  able to punch the Maspeth key on your screen and say

          5  here are the buildings, let's go out there?

          6                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Well, it would be

          7  a little more difficult, but we could find that

          8  every building above a certain level, which is what

          9  we did, and then we went to those buildings

         10  individually with police and EMS and some

         11  firefighters if we needed them. And we went into

         12  those buildings to see if anyone was in need. If

         13  anyone was stuck, we talked to management. We went

         14  door-to-door, banging on the doors, and we did find

         15  a few people had needs and we helped them. So,

         16  that's one of it.

         17                 The other is, I think we need to do,

         18  and what we are doing, is reaching out to the

         19  caregivers in town who have contacts.

         20  Meals-On-Wheels, we immediately sent them out to

         21  check on all of their customers. DFTA, senior

         22  citizen centers, reaching out to your ordinary

         23  members who come to your senior citizen centers and

         24  find out if they're in need, speak to the people who

         25  know them. If we can't get in touch with them, and
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          2  do your best to determine where they are. I think we

          3  can always do that better.

          4                 I think we know what we have to do,

          5  and sometimes you have to do it on an individual

          6  basis.

          7                 I think the large caregivers are the

          8  key players here, BNS being one of the real big ones

          9  here, and just do I think essentially what planning,

         10  which is to reach out to the special needs

         11  population, through those people who have contact

         12  with them day-in and day-out. Con Ed has its own

         13  list. That list is old and really not a good list.

         14  Their LSEs get on the list and they never come off.

         15  So, many, if not most of them, when the police did

         16  go out to check the list found that people were not

         17  there. You know, they're just too old.

         18                 I think we could always do better on

         19  that, and I think we will in our plan take a lot of

         20  the lessons learned of what we did for people, and

         21  one of the big ones will be special needs. We will

         22  make sure that we put a good component in there. Who

         23  do we contact immediately. And we had it pretty

         24  good. The Mayor's Office of People With

         25  Disabilities. They have major contacts. We had them
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          2  on Tuesday. We did that for two reasons, one, for

          3  heat, and the other, we started seeing problems with

          4  the network, those are some of the things we can do.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. Thank you,

          6  Council Member. Thank you, Commissioner.

          7                 And your office is considering a

          8  mechanism to get 3-1-1, especially during a declared

          9  heat emergency, to be a lot more technical and to

         10  make sure that they derive a complete set of

         11  information from constituents that do call. Is that

         12  part of your post assessment?

         13                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: It is. And not

         14  only that, we wanted as real time as possible. So we

         15  can actually display it and be very useful. We have

         16  a 24/7 operation, as you know. We have watched

         17  commanders who were specially trained, we would like

         18  to have another display to tell us what's happening.

         19                 We have a heat problem, some power

         20  outages, where are they concentrated. And, of

         21  course, we're dealing with Con Ed, and we can then

         22  assess what we see, along with what they tell us,

         23  along with our Port teams tell us, and hopefully

         24  have a better handle on it as we go forward.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.
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          2                 Council Member Katz has been waiting

          3  patiently to ask some questions.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I will be brief.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: We've been joined

          6  by Council Member Monserrate.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Commissioner, I

          8  thank you for your honest and I do believe clear

          9  testimony today, so I do want to thank you for that.

         10                 I come at this from a very different

         11  perspective than some of my colleagues. My

         12  neighborhood was slightly affected but not truly

         13  affected, but I have a very large amount of empathy

         14  and sympathy truly because of last year for the

         15  folks that were affected so deeply in this blackout.

         16                 But I'm also Chair of the Land Use

         17  Committee, and as Chair of the Land Use Committee we

         18  have oversight over DoITT and over 3-1-1, and we

         19  have spent the last few years developing 3-1-1, and

         20  for those of you that know my history, you know I

         21  wasn't a great fan of the system in the beginning

         22  and as the years go by I am trying to learn to be a

         23  fan. It is at times very difficult, but I have great

         24  new hopes for the Commissioner that came on board,

         25  that he is going to perfect the system, so I do look
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          2  forward to working with him.

          3                 I met with him, I think he has some

          4  good ideas, and as we move forward I'll look forward

          5  to hearing what they are.

          6                 My issue, though, is from a different

          7  perspective, I don't understand why the City of New

          8  York in the Year 2006 is at anyone's mercy for the

          9  information that we have. Anyone. Whether it's Con

         10  Edison, whether it's KeySpan, I'm showing my age,

         11  whether it is any of the companies in the City of

         12  New York that we rely on heavily, what I don't

         13  understand is why we're at their mercy. And we're

         14  questioning a lot about Con Edison, and

         15  truthfulness, and whether they were lying, and I

         16  understand that, and I understand the anger there,

         17  but what I don't understand is why it's so accepting

         18  that we didn't know this information.

         19                 And I think there's just a few, for

         20  instance, 944 folks that were out the first day,

         21  2,100 folks, then 4,800 on Wednesday, I mean, I've

         22  got a lot of questions about that. Were the 944

         23  people from a building? Were one of those phone

         24  calls maybe from a building, so we should have

         25  realized that the entire building was out?
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          2                 And where did the calls go? I

          3  understand that they were logged in as power outage

          4  calls, but then where did they go? I think you said

          5  that, they went to Con Edison.

          6                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: They were.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: And I guess,

          8  finally, where I'm getting with this, I know the

          9  3-1-1 system. I know they can do real time now,

         10  because it's a computer make-up. It's a field. It's

         11  not that difficult to do. It's a field. You get a

         12  printout during the day of all of these things that

         13  are logged in, they print them out.

         14                 By Tuesday, it would seem to me that

         15  the City should have realized, hey, maybe we should

         16  get a printout every few hours on Tuesday to see

         17  truly where we're going with the 3-1-1 calls.

         18                 And I guess lastly, and I'm trying to

         19  get it all in so that there's timing. I apologize.

         20  But what really concerns me is I understand we're

         21  following up on the power outage issue. What is the

         22  mechanism by which we're now going to try to use

         23  3-1-1 to see what other disasters or things that

         24  could be happening to a lot of people happen?

         25                 For instance, there is a suspicious
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          2  smell in a certain part of the City, a subway car is

          3  out, you know, a certain area has lost, I don't

          4  know, water, or whatever it is, how is 3-1-1 or

          5  electric again, or a gas -- not gas because that's

          6  from your own house, how is 3-1-1 going to log those

          7  things in the future as well, so that we really know

          8  what is going on in the City?

          9                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Well, I think

         10  with your work with them, I'm sure that they can

         11  answer exactly how they'll log.

         12                 3-1-1 is a very good, a great

         13  resource for us. 3-1-1 often times will call us and

         14  say we're seeing X, Y or Z, and we have not heard

         15  anything about it, smell, when we get that, we get

         16  good information. It isn't that we don't get

         17  information from 3-1-1. We are getting information

         18  even from the regular day. It gets accumulated the

         19  next morning so we can see what the whole day looked

         20  like.

         21                 We are and they are an active player

         22  with OEM. They know that their data, what they are

         23  seeing is important to us. If they see something

         24  that's indicating a problem, they pass it on to us.

         25  I think the problem in this system is the XY
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          2  coordinates, you know, determining exactly where

          3  that call us, getting that additional data which

          4  slows down their ability to take call information.

          5  That's the problem. I think the system can do it,

          6  there's no question about it, they're going to have

          7  to put the information in. When they put it in,

          8  we'll be able to see on our screen where the blips

          9  are, what the issue is, be it a power outage, be it

         10  a smell, be it a gas leak, be it fires, or whatever

         11  else might have happened in the area, water in the

         12  basement, so we see a watermain is yet to break but

         13  we see water coming out in certain areas of the

         14  City.

         15                 There is many uses, and I think all

         16  of them are very helpful. I think if we get to this

         17  point, we'll map out as much as we can. We won't

         18  keep it just a power outage, because we started it

         19  with power outages. There is no reason we should not

         20  be able to map out as much as possible.

         21                 The new Commissioner is I think a

         22  good person. And I think it's a credit to the Mayor

         23  that he got him to come here. And I think in the

         24  rest of this Administration and maybe beyond, he

         25  will do some good things at 3-1-1. And I think
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          2  ultimately we are going to rely a lot more on that

          3  data, as well as what we can go out and get

          4  ourselves and our PORT teams to kind of guide us in

          5  what is happening.

          6                 Why are we stuck in this position

          7  today? I think the reason is the Con Ed system is a

          8  complex system, and they are the provider of power

          9  for the City, probably some years back someone

         10  should have said what we're saying today, we should

         11  really be checking that data. Maybe there was good

         12  reason for it, some of the things that Councilman

         13  Gioia pointed out are certainly good reasons for it.

         14  I think all I can say is as you go into the future,

         15  we will be checking much more carefully on our own

         16  data, and hopefully getting Con Ed to be more

         17  consistent as well.

         18                 Hopefully as a result of all that's

         19  gone on based on this event, we will get a better

         20  system out of Con Ed. They should be the one to be

         21  able to do it.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: They should be

         23  the one to be able to do it. You're talking about

         24  one utility, there are many other utilities that

         25  provide service to our constituents. There are a lot
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          2  of other companies that provide service to our

          3  constituents. We have spent millions of dollars over

          4  the last few years at the Administration's proposal

          5  and the City Council's approval, on 3-1-1, and it

          6  just seems to me that there has to be better

          7  mechanisms in place, not only for electric.

          8                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Okay.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I mean, that is

         10  clearly important, but I'm concerned Citywide,

         11  something happened, 25 people call into 3-1-1

         12  because people are relatively nervous about calling

         13  9-1-1, unless someone is shooting them or something

         14  like that, they were robbed. So, they call 3-1-1 and

         15  my concern is 25 people call within an hour or two

         16  about something in particular, and you're not

         17  getting it until the next morning. That doesn't work

         18  for me.

         19                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Well, that's not

         20  necessarily true. If they get a blip like that, we

         21  will very well get a call from 3-1-1 saying we're

         22  seeing the following. We don't see it there because

         23  we don't have a link there.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: But this was a

         25  blip. So then theoretically, according to what
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          2  you're saying, on Tuesday morning, at the very

          3  latest --

          4                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: I don't know when

          5  all of these calls came in.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Right. But at

          7  the very latest, Tuesday afternoon then, there

          8  should have shown a blip on 3-1-1 numbers.

          9                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Well, let me

         10  explain this to you. They were already saying there

         11  were 2,100 or 2,000 customers out. On Tuesday we

         12  looked at numbers from Monday, showed 944. Tuesday's

         13  numbers were 2,158. They were consistent. They

         14  weren't inconsistent with what we already knew.

         15  That's why --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: All right.

         17                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: There was a blip

         18  in the sense after a lot of people were calling, but

         19  we already knew that there were 2,000 customers.

         20  Two-thousand customers probably translates to --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: But you didn't

         22  know that til Wednesday morning. And my issue is

         23  that on Tuesday, if they call you and there's a

         24  blip, by the afternoon there should have been

         25  someone calling saying, hey, yesterday was 944,
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          2  today is 2,100, 1,500 so far. So, that's all I'm

          3  saying.

          4                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: No, I understand.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: And I'm not

          6  blaming anyone in particular. What I'm saying is in

          7  the Year 2006, millions and millions and millions of

          8  dollars later, I just want to make sure that if

          9  anything else happens in the City, electric or not,

         10  that you're aware of it at that moment. And it's

         11  computer-wise possible.

         12                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Oh, sure.

         13                 In your discussions with DoITT, they

         14  have a capacity that's finite.

         15                 They have to be able to perform all

         16  of these functions, get the data in so it becomes

         17  more usable. Just a complaint doesn't tell us a lot,

         18  but a complaint with XY coordinates tells us a lot

         19  more. Then we know where it is, and we see

         20  concentration, and I think that's what the

         21  Commissioner wants to do, and I believe their

         22  committed to do that.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you,

         24  Commissioner.

         25                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Thank you.

                                                            109

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Chairman, Thank

          3  you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay, we've been

          5  joined by Council Member Vincent Gentile from

          6  Brooklyn.

          7                 Commissioner, again, I want to thank

          8  you for your response that the agency did turn out

          9  to clearly -- once the agency was aware they did,

         10  and you did according to your testimony, as early as

         11  Tuesday start to put data centers in the field,

         12  tractor trailers in the field in case there was a

         13  systemwide failure. So, clearly you had started your

         14  preparation and it was just based on the desire to

         15  try to maintain service that there was not a

         16  decision to take the entire network down and clearly

         17  you were planning, in case, according to your

         18  testimony, from Tuesday, if the network had to come

         19  down, that you were in preparation for it.

         20                 We are disturbed that Con Edison had

         21  not been able to view a proper time line, as far as

         22  the difficulties that they were having in the

         23  network. They did address during the hearing to

         24  bring back a feeder takes them at least ten hours,

         25  and when they had feeders that were going up and
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          2  down on almost an unprecedented basis for them, they

          3  were not able to even keep up with their prepared

          4  protocol, especially in 100 degree day.

          5                 We are hoping that as a result of

          6  these particular hearings that -- and as you stated,

          7  OEM is relooking at how we deal with Con Ed, Con

          8  Edison at this point is, as you stated from your

          9  testimony and your statements, is not going to be

         10  the primary source for your response to a heat

         11  problem or a utility problem, and as Council Member

         12  Katz has stated, hopefully we can take that across

         13  the board in improving the 3-1-1 system. So, I think

         14  we learned a lot this afternoon, and I just want to

         15  thank you for being here. I know Council Member

         16  Vallone has a couple more questions and a closing

         17  statement.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And then we're

         20  going to have the Public Service Commission come at

         21  the particular break. So, I'm sure you'll have some

         22  staff people that would be interested in what they

         23  have to say, since clearly they have a major role in

         24  ensuring that Con Ed does better the next time.

         25                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Thank you very

                                                            111

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  much, Council Member Comrie.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Commissioner, if

          5  anything can succeed in dimming the bright Beacon

          6  that is New York City, it is Con Ed.

          7                 But the delay in response here, I

          8  think we can all agree, is not the City's finest

          9  hour also. When you say that you've learned from

         10  this and will make changes to ensure that the

         11  response is even better next time, we all trust you

         12  and believe you and that's why our tone is much

         13  different than it was in the past. We know you've

         14  already made changes. You've already implemented

         15  those changes, that it's OEM's job to grow with

         16  every emergency and that's what you're doing.  When

         17  Con Ed says it's going to make changes, none of us

         18  believe it in a minute. So it's a whole different

         19  story when you say that, we know you've made them

         20  and we know that you realize the response should

         21  have happened a little quicker here, and will in the

         22  future. And we saw that in Staten Island, obviously,

         23  how much quicker it happened there.

         24                 So, let me, on behalf of everyone I

         25  represent and everyone affected, thank you, and
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          2  everyone who works with you and for the City for

          3  what you did for us from Thursday evening on. It was

          4  just magnificent to see those people out on the

          5  streets, to see the police out every half a block,

          6  the flood lights, the hot meals, the water, the

          7  firefighters going up and down the stairs carrying

          8  the elderly who couldn't get to the dialysis. It

          9  really made people feel good about the City, and

         10  that was all under your direction, so I want to

         11  thank you for that.

         12                 And we will obviously continue to

         13  work with you to implement these plans and improve

         14  them, and if there's any assistance we can give you,

         15  we're here. So thank you again for that.

         16                 COMMISSIONER BRUNO: Thank you.

         17                 Can I just add one thing? It

         18  personally hurt me to see people in Queens have to

         19  wait on lines for food. It was a very emotional

         20  thing for lots of folks and particularly for me as

         21  well.

         22                 So, I really appreciate what you've

         23  said. We will do our best, and the Mayor and the

         24  City have supported this agency in a very important

         25  way, that's why we're able to get done what we're
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          2  doing.

          3                 So, thank you very much. I appreciate

          4  the opportunity to be here, and I'm sure we'll talk

          5  more in the future.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We'll take a

          8  five-minute break and be back with the Public

          9  Service Commission.

         10                 (Recess taken.)

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: All right, we've

         12  been going by the Public Service Commission, with

         13  the Public Service Commission who is responsible for

         14  ensuring that New Yorkers receive reliable low-cost

         15  utility services by regulating and overseeing all

         16  utility providers in this State. And I want to thank

         17  them for coming from Albany today to give us some

         18  insight as to their response and deliberation over

         19  what happened to us and the City, with the blackout.

         20  And at this particular time, I'd like to turn to OEM

         21  for their presentation. If you could identify

         22  yourselves for the record, and whoever is going to

         23  speak first can then just go right ahead. Thank you.

         24                 It has to be dark for it to work.

         25  It's kind of like the Con Ed thing that we're doing
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          2  over here. The light has to be off for the volume to

          3  work.

          4                 MR. GALLAGHER: Thank you, Chairman

          5  Comrie and Vallone and members of the Committee.

          6                 My name is James Gallagher. I'm

          7  Director of the Office of Electricity and

          8  Environment, the New York Department of Public

          9  Service.

         10                 Joining me today are Michael Warden,

         11  Chief of Distribution Systems and Generation at the

         12  Department, and Charles Dickson, Director of the

         13  Department's Office of Accounting and Finance.

         14                 We represent the offices within the

         15  agency that have a thorough understanding of the

         16  Operational Characteristics of Con Edison's Network,

         17  as well as the procedures that allow us to oversee

         18  Con Edison's Infrastructure Investment Plan.

         19                 I want to first thank you for holding

         20  this hearing and for inviting us to participate. The

         21  power outages throughout Northwestern Queens were

         22  obviously a difficult and terrible event, leaving

         23  roughly 100,000 or more residents and businesses

         24  throughout several communities in Queens without

         25  power, some for as many as nine days.
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          2                 This incident was yet one more

          3  challenge imposed upon the residents of New York

          4  City without warning, and they faced it with the

          5  kind of resolve and character that we have come to

          6  expect from New Yorkers during difficult times.

          7                 Outages of this nature represent a

          8  significant public health and safety risk to those

          9  residents who are left without power, as well as

         10  significant economic loss for the business

         11  community.

         12                 I know many residents are angry and

         13  want answers as to why this happened. That anger is

         14  understandable. The residents and businesses deserve

         15  answers as to why the outages occurred, why it took

         16  as long as it did to restore power and what steps we

         17  will take to prevent it from happening again. I'm

         18  here to assure those affected by the outages that we

         19  are vigorously pursuing the answers and will

         20  recommend that the Commission take any appropriate

         21  actions to try to prevent something like this from

         22  ever happening again.

         23                 Given the severity of the situation,

         24  and at the urging of Governor Pataki and Mayor

         25  Bloomberg, on July 26th the Chairman of the Public
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          2  Service Commission signed an order initiating a

          3  formal proceeding, an investigation, to examine

          4  thoroughly all issues associated with both the loss

          5  of the primary feeders in Long Island City Network

          6  of Queens, and the subsequent customer outages.

          7                 While we expect the investigation to

          8  proceed expeditiously, it will be thorough and

          9  comprehensive, and at this time it is premature as

         10  to exactly when it will be precluded.

         11                 However, if during the course of our

         12  investigation we learn facts that require immediate

         13  actions, we will move quickly to implement them.

         14                 As part of the investigation we

         15  conducted an initial series of public statement

         16  hearings to give those affected by the outages an

         17  opportunity to communicate their experiences,

         18  concerns and recommendations to the Commission.

         19                 Additional public statement hearings

         20  and information sessions will be scheduled as

         21  warranted throughout our investigation.

         22                 In addition, an Administrative Law

         23  Judge has been assigned to this proceeding and

         24  interested parties will be given an opportunity to

         25  present their own opinions and recommendations.
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          2                 And I want to note that the judge has

          3  requested that procedural proposals be submitted by

          4  next Tuesday, in terms of the schedule, hearings, et

          5  cetera, that any specific party might be interested

          6  in pursuing.

          7                 One critical aspect of these outages

          8  in Queens is that they were initiated by failures of

          9  Con Edison's underground network distribution

         10  system, and were not due to a lack of generation.

         11                 It should also be noted that based on

         12  industry-wide statistics, as have been

         13  reference-ready in these hearings, that Con Edison

         14  electric distribution system has been historically

         15  one of the most reliable in the nation.

         16                 Con Edison's electric network system

         17  is designed with the intention that reliable service

         18  will be maintained, even if any of two primary

         19  voltage feeders supplying a specific network are out

         20  of service simultaneously.

         21                 In this particular situation,

         22  however, many more primary feeders were out of

         23  service.

         24                 We are continuing to monitor Con

         25  Edison's restoration efforts in the Queens Network,
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          2  and actively inspecting Con Edison's system recovery

          3  activities. We are turning the focus of the

          4  investigation towards examining how the conditions

          5  that led to this outage arose, the appropriateness

          6  and adequacy of Con Edison's response, and how a

          7  recurrence of this type of incident can be avoided.

          8                 The specific issues we are examining

          9  include:

         10                 First, the circumstances that led to

         11  the loss of primary feeders serving the Long Island

         12  City network of Queens.

         13                 Second, the inordinate amount of time

         14  it took for Con Edison to accurately determine the

         15  magnitude of the customer outages.

         16                 The effectiveness of Con Edison's

         17  management of its electric distribution system

         18  before and during the failure of the feeders in

         19  question, and the company's response to the failures

         20  and subsequent customer outages, the quality and

         21  quantity of Con Edison's communications with the

         22  public and State and local governments; and the

         23  actions taken by the company to restore service in

         24  the immediate aftermath of the outages, including

         25  the use of temporary above-ground cables, and
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          2  emergency generators.

          3                 The nature and extent of Con Edison's

          4  expenditures for operating and maintaining the Long

          5  Island City network, and the company's plans for

          6  ensuring the reliability and safety of its overall

          7  primary and secondary electric distribution systems

          8  and the need for improvements in its practices and

          9  procedures.

         10                 Upon conclusion of this

         11  investigation, the staff will issue a report to the

         12  Commission containing the findings and

         13  recommendations for further action.

         14                 Broadly speaking, the investigation

         15  may lead to a formal prudence investigation of Con

         16  Edison's management of its electric distribution

         17  system, the company's response to the feeder outages

         18  in Long Island City, and any other issues.

         19                 In a prudence proceeding, the company

         20  would have the burden of demonstrating that its

         21  actions were reasonable.

         22                 The investigation reveals that Con

         23  Edison failed to adhere to either Commission orders

         24  or regulations for the public service law, and the

         25  Commission could pursue a penalty action against the
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          2  company in State Supreme Court pursuant to sections

          3  24 and 25 of the Public Service Law.

          4                 The Commission could also commence a

          5  proceeding to examine the adequacy of the company's

          6  tariff that provides for food spoilage payments to

          7  affected customers.

          8                 Other options will certainly be on

          9  the table but without knowing more about the details

         10  and root cause of this incident, it would be

         11  premature to speculate as to what those options

         12  might be.

         13                 To put the Commission's options in

         14  context, I would like to add a few points and the

         15  nature of the Commission's role in overseeing or

         16  regulating utilities.

         17                 In fulfilling its responsibility in

         18  Public Service Law, the Commission must always

         19  balance numerous and often competing interests of

         20  customers and stakeholders.

         21                 The Commission's role is to balance

         22  the need for investment in the system against the

         23  costs imposed by such investments upon customers.

         24                 To achieve that balance, the

         25  Commission relies upon a comprehensive process that
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          2  involves participation of multiple parties with

          3  multiple interests who work to build a record upon

          4  which it can make informed decisions as to how to

          5  balance these factors while establishing the company

          6  revenue requirements and rates.

          7                 Because customers bear the cost of

          8  prudent investments in the electric system, and the

          9  Commissioner is required by law to ensure that rates

         10  for customers are just and reasonable, there is a

         11  natural tension in attempting to accomplish both of

         12  these objectives.

         13                 Moreover, while the need for

         14  infrastructure investments is of paramount

         15  importance and a primary focal point of the

         16  Commission's rate-setting process, there are other

         17  factors that influence rates that are also

         18  considered during rate cases. They include, for

         19  example, the need for low-income assistance

         20  programs, service quality requirements and

         21  investments in energy efficiency.

         22                 There is no mathematical formula for

         23  determining how to balance all of these factors or

         24  even for establishing how much money should be

         25  invested in the infrastructure in any given year. In
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          2  the end, however, and I want to stress, the company

          3  is ultimately responsible under law for furnishing

          4  and providing safe and adequate service.

          5                 It is now the staff of the

          6  Commission's responsibility to find out exactly what

          7  happened and what needs to be done to ensure that

          8  similar situations do not occur again.

          9                 Following a major incident, such as

         10  the recent outages, staff conducts inquiries or

         11  investigations to determine their causes and

         12  identify any practices or procedures that need

         13  improvement.

         14                 While staff conducts its own

         15  investigation and goes into the field to witness the

         16  utility's actions, it also does a critical review of

         17  the utility's self-assessment reports that are

         18  required to be submitted within 60 days at the

         19  conclusion of all major outages.

         20                 In many cases, such as will occur

         21  here, a staff report is issued. Through these and

         22  other regulatory initiatives in recent years, there

         23  have been a number of improvements to Con Edison's

         24  improvement infrastructure and operations. Examples

         25  include the fact that the company's infrastructure
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          2  program spending for transmission and distribution

          3  facilities has more than doubled since 2001 to over

          4  $1 billion per year. The company has committed to a

          5  program to rebuild its secondary network system at a

          6  funding level of approximately $100 million per

          7  year. The company is committed to spending

          8  approximately 25, 30 million per year to replace old

          9  paper insulated lead-covered cable. Feeder

         10  restoration times have been reduced significantly,

         11  which is a key for maintaining network reliability,

         12  and the company now performs annual stray voltage

         13  testing of all publicly accessible facilities.

         14                 The company also inspects all of its

         15  electrical facilities once every five years and

         16  makes repairs to any problems that are identified.

         17                 And new vented manhole covers are

         18  being installed throughout the company's service

         19  territory.

         20                 Unfortunately, these improvements did

         21  not help avoid the outages in Queens and our

         22  investigation needs to find out why.

         23                 While the initial restoration effort

         24  from the outages is progressing rapidly, we will

         25  continue to monitor closely the network's operation
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          2  throughout the remainder of the summer and the

          3  long-term repair is being made to the damaged

          4  network elements.

          5                 Our oversight will not be limited to

          6  the Long Island City network, though, and we will

          7  continue to monitor the operation of Con Edison's

          8  entire system. In response to a directive from the

          9  Commission, Con Edison has filed its plan for

         10  ensuring the safe and reliable operation in the

         11  electric distribution system, and in particular, the

         12  Long Island City network in Queens. We're reviewing

         13  the plan thoroughly to ensure it represents a

         14  comprehensive strategy for maintaining reliability

         15  throughout Con Edison service territory.

         16                 I want to again thank the Committee

         17  for the opportunity to update the residents and

         18  businesses of Queens affected by the outages, and I

         19  want to thank you for letting us inform these people

         20  what we know and how we will proceed with our

         21  investigation.

         22                 I want to assure those affected by

         23  the outages, as well as all the citizens of New

         24  York. There is currently no higher priority within

         25  our agency and that we will work as expeditiously as
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          2  possible to conclude our investigation and report

          3  back on our findings and investigation.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

          6                 So, you're saying that the status of

          7  your investigation at this point is to -- you've had

          8  your initial public hearings and that an

          9  administrative law judge has been assigned to the

         10  hearing, and you said something about procedural

         11  proposals to be submitted when?

         12                 MR. GALLAGHER: That's right,

         13  Chairman. The staff investigation is already

         14  underway. The Commission has also assigned an

         15  administrative law judge as I mentioned, and the

         16  Administration Law Judge has issued a notice that's

         17  on the Commission's web page requesting any

         18  proposals regarding procedural approaches for our

         19  investigation, as well as schedule, and this is by

         20  Tuesday, the 29th of August.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And what do you

         22  call a procedural approach?

         23                 MR. GALLAGHER: By procedural approach

         24  we're looking for feedback from interested parties,

         25  for example, on, and I'll give an example, whether
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          2  additional hearings might be held, whether public

          3  statement hearings might provide additional

          4  information, whether any party should be subject to

          5  present testimony beyond what materials that have

          6  already been received.

          7                 So, it's really an open solicitation

          8  for any ideas regarding how the investigation should

          9  proceed on a public scale.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. And if

         11  someone has some information regarding the quality

         12  of the work or the quality of the cables, at our

         13  last hearing we had some people who testified that

         14  the quality of the cables even are under suspicion

         15  that are in the network and that the quality of the

         16  work and that the way the work is being done, is

         17  that being part of this initial hearing?

         18                 MR. GALLAGHER: Not this filing. We

         19  are already investigating in an open process. For

         20  example, the quality of materials that were in the

         21  network at Long Island C. They're doing some

         22  forensics work already that is an open process.

         23                 I know the District Attorney has been

         24  involved in that effort, staff and I believe the

         25  City is going to be assigning, if not already,
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          2  consultants to participate in that effort.

          3                 What the judge is asking for for next

          4  Tuesday is primarily ideas or suggestions regarding

          5  the process. But I want to assure you that any

          6  information that you receive, and any interested

          7  party that wants to participate in the investigation

          8  is welcome to do so.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. And you

         10  also stated that, which we have established also, it

         11  was not due to a lack of generation that this system

         12  failed in the Long Island City network. It was all

         13  within Con Ed's underground network distribution.

         14                 MR. GALLAGHER: That's right.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: What we had also

         16  understood from your own reports from the last three

         17  years, that that distribution network has been the

         18  one with the highest amount of problems with repairs

         19  and outages within the last three years; is that not

         20  correct?

         21                 MR. GALLAGHER: What we do, and I'm

         22  going to ask Mike Worden, our head of the

         23  distribution section in common on this, our primary

         24  focus with the company is we look at the borough

         25  basis and we look at the company system and the

                                                            128

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  operation reliability in terms of performance by

          3  major feeders around the network. But I'll ask Mike

          4  to take it from there.

          5                 MR. WORDEN: What we've seen over the

          6  last two years is the Long Island City network did

          7  have the most number of failures on their primary

          8  feeders, okay?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Mm-hmm.

         10                 MR. WORDEN: But you have to look at

         11  the context of what that's applied in. Just because

         12  you have an outage on a primary feeder doesn't mean

         13  a customer is affected. The actual service to

         14  customers in Long Island City was comparable to

         15  other areas in Queens, as far as customers actually

         16  being out of service.

         17                 But those are things that we're going

         18  to be looking at in part of our investigation.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes. I didn't say

         20  customers affected, by my concern is that, and my

         21  primary concern is that that system is overtaxed.

         22  It's been overtaxed and identified as overtaxed for

         23  about ten years now. Even in 1995, after the

         24  incidents in 1993, it was identified that that

         25  system was almost at capacity, and since then there
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          2  has been at least a 30 percent increase from 1995 to

          3  2006 in energy consumption in that network by the

          4  expansion of different factories in that area that

          5  have gotten back on line by the other Long Island

          6  City area that has been increased and attracted more

          7  businesses in that area.

          8                 So, my question to PSC is, under what

          9  circumstances do you order the Con Edison to develop

         10  a new sub network within that larger network?

         11                 MR. WORDEN: We will be looking at the

         12  loading in that entire network as part of our

         13  investigation. And it's various components that

         14  we'll look at as far as a loading, whether it be the

         15  substation or the individual feeders, or individual

         16  transformers. So, you wouldn't necessarily have all

         17  of those components being overloaded, and that's

         18  something we really have to look through, the

         19  loadings during this event and for the past few

         20  years to determine whether there are upgrades that

         21  need to be made in certain areas.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And one of those

         23  assessments done on load assessments, because the

         24  Long Island City network I understand is the largest

         25  Citywide network at the present time?
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          2                 MR. WORDEN: I don't know if it has

          3  the highest load. It has one of the higher loads of

          4  the networks in the City.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

          6                 MR. WORDEN: But I do know that the

          7  capacity for, example, at the substation, is more

          8  than adequate to serve the load in the Long Island

          9  City network.

         10                 What our focus during this event,

         11  even though we will look at the substation as well,

         12  we're going to focus on those feeders within the

         13  network, look at the age, and also look at the

         14  load-carrying capacities of those individual

         15  feeders.

         16                 MR. GALLAGHER: Chairman, I'd like to

         17  add to that response by stressing again that, and I

         18  mentioned this in my testimony, that it's ultimately

         19  the company's responsibility to provide safe and

         20  adequate service. What we do is provide the

         21  resources that are needed to make sure that they can

         22  carry out that responsibility.

         23                 As I mentioned --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: What does that

         25  mean exactly? You don't provide them with the money.
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          2                 MR. GALLAGHER: We approve in rates

          3  the funding that they need to maintain a liable

          4  system, and they are responsible under law to

          5  maintain a reliable system.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: But you don't

          7  necessarily monitor their rate of improvements,

          8  you're just making suggestions. Can you dictate to

          9  Con Edison that they must create a second network

         10  within that network?

         11                 MR. GALLAGHER: Well, the Commission

         12  has, and I do want to say we do monitor the

         13  performance. We do monitor outages, you know, for

         14  example, we have systems in place, what we call the

         15  liability performance mechanism that have

         16  significant dollars adjusted to them in terms of

         17  revenue adjustments that the company will face. It

         18  does not need performance targets.

         19                 The Commission does have the

         20  authority under law to mandate changes, any changes

         21  to the system that are necessary to maintain a safe

         22  and adequate system.

         23                 But in the first regard, it's the

         24  company's responsibility. I mean, they're a

         25  regulated utility under law, and that's their
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          2  mission, is to deliver safe and reliable service.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

          4                 But we're establishing, what we're

          5  trying to establish is that the Long Island City

          6  network is the least reliable within a particular

          7  system, especially within the last five years, and

          8  just trying to, on that predicate, understand what

          9  Public Service Commission will do to try and

         10  increase the reliability of that system.

         11                 MR. GALLAGHER: One of the things

         12  we're going to be doing in this investigation, we're

         13  going to look back over the last several years and

         14  compare the performance of this network, this

         15  specific network compared to others, as well as the

         16  dollars that have been going into this specific

         17  network. But most importantly, what changes and what

         18  investments are needed going forward to improve

         19  reliability.

         20                 I mean, everything is on the table

         21  for this investigation.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         23                 And you've already stated within your

         24  testimony that you believe it took Con Edison an

         25  inordinate amount of time to accurately determine
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          2  the magnitude of their effectiveness, of their

          3  management of the distribution before and during a

          4  failure had some issues that the quality and

          5  quantity of their communications clearly caused a

          6  larger problem. And that the actions of the company

          7  to restore service needs to be improved, because

          8  they established they didn't even have enough

          9  temporary generators on-hand to deal with what they

         10  thought was the problem, as to once they found out

         11  what the true extent of the problem was.

         12                 You're already at the I think

         13  necessary boundaries or hurdles to dictate a formal

         14  prudence investigation, are you not?

         15                 MR. GALLAGHER: Well, for a prudence

         16  investigation to be initiated, we had to present a

         17  case to the Commission that the company did not act

         18  in a reasonable manner. Now, that could happen at

         19  any point during this investigation. It does not

         20  have to wait until the end of the investigation. But

         21  we need to present factual evidence to the

         22  Commission.

         23                 We're now in the process of reviewing

         24  the facts with the company and reviewing evidence.

         25                 The parties are going to have an
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          2  opportunity as well to weigh in with any concern.

          3  But I mean, it will ultimately be the Commission's

          4  decision, not staff's, to open up the proceeding and

          5  then the company would be put in the position of

          6  defending its actions.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. Let me back

          8  up a little bit.

          9                 Do you have a primary liaison who is

         10  responsible or monitors Con Edison's operation

         11  center in New York City to get a real time

         12  assessment on what's going on with them?

         13                 MR. GALLAGHER: Yes, we have, and I'll

         14  have Mike explain a little more detail, but I have a

         15  Deputy Director, for example, who is located in our

         16  New York City office, he's the Deputy Director of

         17  the Office for Electricity, and Mike, as Chief of

         18  the Distribution Group, has staff actually that are

         19  able to go out onto the scene, but I'll ask Mike to

         20  explain.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         22                 MR. WORDEN: We have protocols that

         23  are established with each of the companies in New

         24  York State that establishes conditions under which

         25  they notify us when there is some kind of an event
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          2  going on.

          3                 As Jim said, two of our staff are

          4  located in New York City. During this event, when it

          5  became a more serious event, we actually sent our

          6  people to the company's distribution engineering

          7  command post to monitor the operations, and when it

          8  became an even more serious event, we had people

          9  located in their corporate emergency respond center.

         10                 We were initially notified, as I

         11  think we testified at the Assembly hearing on

         12  Sunday, July 16th, that there was concern it was

         13  going to be high temperatures, high loads, and they

         14  had opened their command center to monitor

         15  operations.

         16                 MR. GALLAGHER: I want to just add to

         17  what Mike said. While Mike was speaking in

         18  particular about this engineering staff that he

         19  supervises, we have over 100 staff in the City in

         20  multiple functions, and it raises from consumer

         21  service people to accountants, to auditors, to

         22  others who are heavily involved in the oversight of

         23  Con Edison. And for this particular investigation,

         24  we have assigned a fairly large group of staff,

         25  multi-disciplinary staff, engineers, auditors,
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          2  financial auditors and the like, to review

          3  everything the company did with respect to this

          4  event.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. So, you had

          6  a primary liaison that was aware of this issue from

          7  Sunday the 16th, and had been monitoring and

          8  collecting information.

          9                 MR. GALLAGHER: Right. We were

         10  monitoring it.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And when did your

         12  entire team start to get involved with it, that you

         13  just described.

         14                 MR. GALLAGHER: In the investigation

         15  -- you're speaking to the actual event itself.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right. Can you

         17  give me like a time line of how your people ramped

         18  up or had been involved from Sunday the 16th, to

         19  Thursday the 20th?

         20                 MR. WORDEN: On Sunday the 16th we had

         21  people that were communicating, mostly via telephone

         22  and e-mail. Myself and my primary person in the City

         23  at that time.

         24                 Monday, throughout the day we

         25  maintained communications, our three engineers
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          2  maintained communications with the company

          3  throughout the day on what was going on.

          4                 At Monday evening, actually it was

          5  around 7:00, the company experienced a problem which

          6  really sent the number of feeders from being kind of

          7  a moderate thing that we were monitoring into a

          8  serious event that they were really much more

          9  closely monitoring.

         10                 They also went into voltage reduction

         11  at 7:00 on Monday evening. And at that time our

         12  communication levels increased between our staff and

         13  the company.

         14                 We had phone calls with the company

         15  as late as like 10:00, 11:00 Monday night.

         16                 We continued to monitor that

         17  operations Tuesday morning. As you know probably

         18  loads tend to drop off at night. Usually when you

         19  get to about 10:00 at night in New York City they

         20  start taking off and we were hopeful that conditions

         21  would improve overnight. The had given us estimates

         22  of when the feeders would return to service. We

         23  monitored that.

         24                 Tuesday, midday we made a decision to

         25  have our staff actually be at the distribution
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          2  command post so we could get more real time

          3  notification of when feeders were going in and out

          4  because we were starting to have these conditions

          5  that had been previously reported where they put a

          6  feeder back in service and it wouldn't stay in

          7  service, it would come back out. And we monitored

          8  those conditions, pretty much through the next

          9  couple of days, again, having our staff located at

         10  the distribution command post, and then going to the

         11  Corporate Emergency Response Center the company

         12  opened up on Thursday somewhere between 10:00 and

         13  12:00. We became aware Friday morning that there was

         14  a significant problem with the customer outage data

         15  that was being reported. We previously had numbers

         16  reported in 2,000 to 2,500 range, some 1,700 at

         17  different times. That morning our Deputy Director,

         18  and my lead person in the City, were advised by Con

         19  Edison that the number was more like 25,000, and

         20  that's obviously when this event escalated.

         21                 We continued to monitor things right

         22  through July 25th when all customers restored. We

         23  had a variety of our staff and we increased the

         24  number of our staff, myself. Jim and others went

         25  down over the weekend to actually go to the area to
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          2  get a more firsthand view of what the conditions

          3  were like.

          4                 But our focus during the time up

          5  until service was restored was on restoration. So,

          6  we had a number of people obviously at the

          7  Department that were supporting our efforts, but we

          8  did not start establishing our team to do an

          9  investigation until restoration was done, because we

         10  didn't want to take away from the efforts to restore

         11  service. That was the most important thing to take

         12  place.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         14                 Do you have a protocol for informing

         15  City agencies or municipalities of the possibility

         16  of an eminent power failure?

         17                 MR. GALLAGHER: What we do, our

         18  primary communication at an event like -- and I'll

         19  use this as an example, if it does look like a major

         20  power failure is eminent, our primary communication

         21  is with the State Emergency Management Office, and

         22  that's in Albany.

         23                 And they in turn will communicate

         24  with local communities. In this case they

         25  communicated directly with OEM, and so we provide
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          2  information to State Emergency Management Office or

          3  SEMO, which provides it to the City.

          4                 We also have regular communication

          5  with City officials.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 What triggers this reporting

          9  obligation to them? At what level? What stage of a

         10  problem?

         11                 MR. GALLAGHER: The SEMO, or the State

         12  Emergency Management Office, is normally, a judgment

         13  call is made within the State that an event is

         14  escalating. And it is at that point when it looks

         15  like it will be a significant event that SEMO, the

         16  operation center is staffed and communications take

         17  place.

         18                 However, in this case, before the

         19  State Emergency Management Office was even

         20  established, we were in communication with, of

         21  course, the company on a regular basis, but also

         22  communication with the City and the Mayor's Office.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So, since you did

         24  have people on site from Sunday, and you were aware

         25  of it, and you did have an understanding that they
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          2  had a systemwide issue within that network where

          3  they had feeders that were going up and down on a

          4  regular basis, did you have a protocol or a

          5  communication?

          6                 Your communication primarily was

          7  still based on their numbers and then you reported

          8  that to either OEM or the State Office of Emergency

          9  Management.

         10                 MR. GALLAGHER: That's right. As Mike

         11  went through, we were dependent at that point on the

         12  company's estimates of the number of customers that

         13  were out. And that's their requirement on their

         14  Commission regulations to keep us informed.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: You have an 800

         16  number too to take complaints also?

         17                 MR. GALLAGHER: That's right. And we

         18  took complaints during this event.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And you noticed a

         20  spike in your numbers clearly?

         21                 MR. GALLAGHER: We received

         22  approximately 270 -- I can tell you exactly, 271

         23  complaints during the event.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: During the entire

         25  event.
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          2                 MR. GALLAGHER: During the entire

          3  event.

          4                 And we immediately refer these

          5  complaints to the company. The company is to act on

          6  them and then get back to us with exactly how the

          7  complaint was handled.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And what is your

          9  normal call rate during a particular week? Is it

         10  anywhere near 270?

         11                 MR. GALLAGHER: I don't have that

         12  information.

         13                 Well, this is 271 complaints

         14  regarding this event.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right.

         16                 MR. GALLAGHER: The Commission

         17  receives close to 300,000 calls per year.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Per year. Right.

         19                 MR. GALLAGHER: In terms of a normal

         20  week, I don't have that estimate right here with me.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         22                 And do you break down your complaints

         23  by issue, that you issue a bi-monthly or quarterly

         24  report on?

         25                 MR. GALLAGHER: Right, we do. We have
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          2  a consumer services office which does compile all

          3  complaints by category.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

          5                 I'm getting off track of what I

          6  wanted to ask you.

          7                 I want to come back to the liability

          8  piece and just focus on communication and

          9  understanding how Con Edison made their decision to

         10  do it based on services, as opposed to customers.

         11  How did they make that determination that they would

         12  do it based on meters as opposed to customers? Is

         13  that something that was suggested by the utility

         14  originally?

         15                 MR. GALLAGHER: That's barely standard

         16  for utility to report outages by meter points. Then

         17  from there we would then estimate the number of

         18  customers, the actual people who were affected by

         19  the outage.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So that's your

         21  across the board position for every utility.

         22                 MR. GALLAGHER: That's fairly the

         23  standard by utility, wouldn't you say that?

         24                 MR. WORDEN: That's standard

         25  throughout the country.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. And there's

          3  really no other opportunity for your agency to make

          4  a separate understanding of the affected network,

          5  the affected people within a network?

          6                 MR. WORDEN: Well, there is the

          7  opportunity there to -- I mean, we had people in the

          8  field, just like the Police Department and the Fire

          9  Department, and all the other agencies in fact had

         10  people down there, but by having a few people in the

         11  streets, you just can't get the magnitude of what

         12  occurred.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. But

         14  according to constituents, manhole covers were

         15  blowing on a regular basis and had that been

         16  reported to your office and there were manhole

         17  covers that were exploding on them and manhole fires

         18  that were catching throughout that period from

         19  Sunday to Wednesday?

         20                 MR. WORDEN: Certain ones are and were

         21  reported to us, but we're really going back and

         22  looking at them all again in the course of our

         23  investigation to determine if really there should

         24  have been more reported, if it's an accurate

         25  representation or just really how many customers
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          2  were really affected. So, that's all stuff that's on

          3  the table.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: But a manhole

          5  explosion, would that be considered a Priority 1

          6  notification?

          7                 MR. WORDEN: That's certainly a

          8  notification to us, and certain conditions, but that

          9  doesn't necessarily result in customer outages.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay, it may not

         11  result in customer outages, but it points to a

         12  service problem, right?

         13                 MR. WORDEN: Not necessarily.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Not necessarily?

         15  That a manhole explosion is not a system breakdown?

         16                 MR. WORDEN: It is a breakdown, but it

         17  could be in the primary cables. The primary cables

         18  don't actually supply customers, so it depends on

         19  the circumstances.

         20                 MR. GALLAGHER: What Mike is --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: But even if it's

         22  a primary cable or a secondary cable, wouldn't an

         23  explosion mean that that entire distribution node or

         24  nodule was a failure?

         25                 MR. GALLAGHER: What Mike is saying is
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          2  all manhole explosions need to be reported.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right.

          4                 MR. GALLAGHER: But he was saying that

          5  they did not result, they may not necessarily result

          6  in outages on their own.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right.

          8                 MR. GALLAGHER: However, any manhole

          9  explosion is significant and we need to know about

         10  it. And I want to be clear, we don't know whether

         11  all the explosions that occurred were actively

         12  reported to us by the company.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. Okay.

         14                 Just going back to your testimony for

         15  a minute, you recommended -- I don't want to get

         16  into the balance between investing money in

         17  infrastructure and the mathematical formulas, but I

         18  did want to get into the number of improvements that

         19  you listed. The infrastructure program for spending

         20  for transition and transmission and distribution

         21  facilities, you said, according to your statement,

         22  has doubled since 2001 to over 1 billion per year,

         23  but wasn't that due to a court order and not

         24  something that the Public Service Commission

         25  determined?
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          2                 MR. GALLAGHER: No, not at all. This

          3  was entirely due to Public Service Commission

          4  action.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: That was due

          6  strictly to the Public Service Commission?

          7                 MR. GALLAGHER: Right.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: All right.

          9                 And do you think that the secondary

         10  network funding at 1 million per year is adequate

         11  enough to deal with with the New York City area,

         12  considering that we're dealing with a 15 to 20

         13  percent growth in the City per year?

         14                 MR. GALLAGHER: Let me answer that

         15  this way: It's $100 million per year, and the scale

         16  of the situation, the needs in the system are so

         17  great that that $100 million per year, I mean it's

         18  really not tackling the entire problem.

         19                 I mean, we believe, and we've been

         20  aggressively pushing for more expenditures on an

         21  annual basis, and that's one of the main reasons why

         22  that budget is up.

         23                 To give you an idea of the scale of

         24  the problem, Con Edison has over 90,000 miles of

         25  underground cable, both transmission and
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          2  distribution cable. That 100, according to the

          3  company, that hundred million was sufficient to

          4  replace about 100 miles of secondary cable.

          5                 So that gives you an idea of the

          6  scale of the problem. It's massive. And right now,

          7  the company, we ensure that they have a mechanism in

          8  place to identify it and we were earlier saying it's

          9  by looking at the major feeder problems to identify

         10  where the dollars go.

         11                 If the balancing that we do is

         12  between the impact on rates versus the reliability

         13  of the system, the company needs to maintain a

         14  reliable system. The dollars are significant, and

         15  that balancing is part of every rate case for every

         16  company in the State, but Con Edison more

         17  importantly than the others, in terms of the

         18  magnitude of the problem with the underground

         19  system.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And your

         21  understanding of the 900 miles of cable, the average

         22  age of the cable is, from our understanding, 30 to

         23  40 years old?

         24                 MR. GALLAGHER: Well, the company

         25  reported to us, and both the reliability report that
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          2  you were referencing, as well as some of the reports

          3  that came out during this event and after this

          4  event, but I just want to make it clear, we are

          5  skeptical of any information of that type right now

          6  that we hear from the company. And this

          7  investigation, I do not want to say that we are

          8  going to embrace any number that the company gives

          9  us without an adequate investigation and review.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And you have your

         11  own team that can delineate what the age of the

         12  network is?

         13                 MR. GALLAGHER: We will have our own

         14  team. We have our own consultants as necessary. The

         15  City is bringing its own consultants. We will

         16  determine how old the infrastructure is.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         18                 All right.

         19                 I'm going to take a break and turn it

         20  over to my co-chair to ask you a couple of

         21  questions. And I want to go back with him and share

         22  on the liability, because I know that's another big

         23  issue on that one.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you. Thank

         25  you. I just want to start, let me start where Chair
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          2  Comrie left off, since we're on that page.

          3                 The 1 billion per year, that was part

          4  of an agreement regarding a rate increase which is

          5  granted for Con Ed, correct?

          6                 MR. WORDEN: That's correct.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So when they

          8  talk about their infrastructure spending, it was

          9  basically mandated by you in order for them to get a

         10  rate increase?

         11                 MR. WORDEN: It was agreed to by the

         12  parties and then approved to by the Commission.  But

         13  an important point is, there's a reconciliation in

         14  there. So the company cannot come back and say we

         15  didn't have enough money to maintain reliability.

         16                 There is a reconciliation. If they

         17  need to spend more to maintain reliability, the

         18  provisions are there to do that.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay. You said

         20  the company committed to fund 100 million per year

         21  secondary network? That's 100 miles of secondary

         22  cable.

         23                 MR. WORDEN: Well, that's what the

         24  company, I asked the company to tell us, just as

         25  part of coming in here, for the 100 million, what
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          2  did that basically provide, and they estimated 100

          3  million. I was trying to put that in the context of

          4  the total miles of cable, and I want to stress when

          5  I say total miles of cable, that's not just

          6  secondary cable, that's primary, as well as

          7  transmission. That's everything.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: What is the

          9  total amount of secondary cable?

         10                 MR. WORDEN: I don't have the total

         11  amount here. But the total amount of everything is

         12  90,000 miles on the ground.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I'm a little

         14  perturbed to know that we just found out on the way

         15  in here that $100 million per year gives us 100

         16  miles of cable. I'm perhaps more skeptical than you

         17  are -- not perhaps, absolutely more skeptical than

         18  you are with information received from Con Ed.

         19                 So, I'm glad you're skeptical, but

         20  before today, if they told you they were spending

         21  $100 million on rebuilding a secondary network, how

         22  did you have any idea that they actually did that?

         23                 MR. DICKSON: We have the ability to

         24  go into the company and check the actual books,

         25  records, including work orders, and they have to
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          2  record every single dollar that they spend in

          3  accordance with the Commission's accounting

          4  instructions and requirements. And we have the

          5  ability to go in now and verify that they've done

          6  that.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And how often

          8  did you exercise that ability?

          9                 MR. DICKSON: Well, we do that when

         10  we're doing a rate case or when there is an

         11  inspectional investigation underway. I would not say

         12  we do it on a daily basis, but we do it periodically

         13  and we test to ensure that they're following the

         14  internal controls that are in place within the

         15  accounting systems.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: What is

         17  periodically? Every month, every year, every decade?

         18                 MR. DICKSON: I would say on average

         19  about every two to three years we're looking at that

         20  sort of thing, and of course a rate proceeding, or

         21  in the course of a periodic review of their

         22  earnings.

         23                 MR. WORDEN: I can add to that that

         24  Charlie is referring to, from an accounting

         25  perspective. In terms of the actual construction and
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          2  the expenditure of the dollars that they are

          3  provided, we meet with the company quarterly, and we

          4  go through the major category. Which, you know, for

          5  example, load relief or feeder improvements or

          6  secondary cable, we will look at quarterly what they

          7  should have spent and then they actually spent. And

          8  we probe with questions, if necessary, as why

          9  they're falling behind.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: The problem I

         11  see here is you're going through all the information

         12  that Con Ed gave you. You're looking at Con Ed's

         13  books and you're talking to Con Ed. You apparently

         14  don't have the ability to get down there in the

         15  manhole covers and look to see that they've replaced

         16  what they said they'd replaced; is that true?

         17                 MR. WORDEN: We have the ability, if

         18  necessary, if we suspect that we are being misled,

         19  to do an investigation that involves sending people

         20  into the manholes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And when was the

         22  last time that occurred? Because when we had our

         23  stray voltage hearings, and I don't believe it was

         24  you that was here, and you mentioned stray voltage

         25  on this page, page six. You said that the company
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          2  performs annual stray voltage testing, that's only

          3  because Margarita Lopez and I put in a bill

          4  mandating that they do yearly stray voltage testing,

          5  and prior to that they testified that they tested

          6  these locations perhaps once every 15 years for

          7  stray voltage. And the PSC testified that they

          8  basically had no inspectors go out and check Con

          9  Ed's work or to look for stray voltage on their own.

         10                 So, I'm concerned that you don't have

         11  inspectors to check to see that so they actually are

         12  replacing the cable they said they replaced.

         13                 MR. GALLAGHER: What we said at that

         14  time, and I was here for the stray voltage hearings,

         15  and what we said at that time is that in no way can

         16  -- first of all, the company has 13,000 employees.

         17  It's a massive utility, a massive distribution

         18  system, and no commission in the country, has the

         19  resources to go out and get into manholes and make

         20  sure that the company is always doing what it's

         21  supposed to do.

         22                 What we do have, Mike's group does

         23  have the ability, they're engineers, and they can go

         24  out and they can occasionally, if necessary,

         25  supervise work. And an example is the incident
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          2  several years ago, the electrocution of Jody Lane.

          3  We were in -- we went out, we got samples of cable

          4  and so forth. We can get involved.

          5                 Because we don't have the resources,

          6  and no commission is ever designed to look over the

          7  company's shoulders at every turn. We, in many ways,

          8  put a lot of the emphasis on performance. We give

          9  the resources but how is the company performing? Are

         10  they maintaining reliability?

         11                 We have the mechanisms in place. For

         12  example, right now we have out for comment an $8

         13  million rate adjustment against Con Edison for

         14  failure to meet its targets last year.

         15                 Coming out of this proceeding, this

         16  investigation, there may be additional penalties

         17  levied against the company.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Before we get

         19  into that, because that's a whole other area I want

         20  to get into, how many inspectors do you have that

         21  you send out in New York City that regularly do

         22  inspections of Con Ed's work?

         23                 MR. WORDEN: We use staff engineers.

         24  We don't refer to them as inspectors per se.

         25                 Right now today we have three staff
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          2  engineers.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Staff what?

          4                 MR. WORDEN: I don't know quite how to

          5  draw the distinction. But they're out today in the

          6  Long Island City Network observing the replacement

          7  activities and recovery efforts that are going on

          8  out there. And those individuals are capable of

          9  determining whether the things that the company is

         10  doing in replacing cables and inspecting different

         11  things are being done properly.

         12                 Also one of those individuals is

         13  going, for the next two nights will be monitoring

         14  the company's stray voltage activities. Those things

         15  are things that have to be done at night when it's

         16  dark in order to get proper readings when that

         17  testing is conducted.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Respectfully, if

         19  three were enough to ensure that Con Ed was doing

         20  the job properly, we wouldn't have had a nine-day

         21  blackout a few weeks ago. Obviously it's not enough

         22  to ensure that Con Ed's system is able to bear the

         23  load that it needs to bear.

         24                 MR. GALLAGHER: We will never be at

         25  the point, and we shouldn't be at the point where we
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          2  want to rely solely on staff inspectors to prevent

          3  blackouts.

          4                 I mean, it's just not the way

          5  regulatory systems are set up. It's the company's

          6  responsibility to maintain reliability.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And it's your

          8  responsibility to make sure that they do that. I'm

          9  not saying you should have a thousand inspectors out

         10  looking at every job that they do, but you need to

         11  do much more oversight than we have done in the

         12  past, because everything you said in this report

         13  today you said at the Washington Heights. Everything

         14  about how you're going to look into the reliability,

         15  you're going to look into their communication with

         16  public officials. They screwed up then, they screwed

         17  up everything, they screwed up Washington Heights

         18  again, and you were overseeing them all the time

         19  from Washington Heights to now. So, what are you

         20  going to do now to improve your performance?

         21                 MR. WORDEN: We completed a report, we

         22  came out with a report after Washington Heights with

         23  44 recommendations that went to the Commission. And

         24  we monitor Washington Heights, we monitor on a

         25  quarterly basis, accomplishments of those
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          2  recommendations. There are still in number ten of

          3  them that are open and needed to be acted upon,

          4  where we're not satisfied with what the company has

          5  done.

          6                 The only thing I could do is to

          7  ensure you that we're going to do an intense and

          8  thorough investigation, and we're going to question

          9  everything we hear from the company.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: The sum of your

         11  recommendations, they were that they do a better job

         12  repairing the infrastructure, they do a better job

         13  communicating with people, you know, everything they

         14  should have done they didn't do again this time.

         15                 Again, I don't want to spend all day

         16  on that point, but --

         17                 MR. WORDEN: Each event, each time,

         18  not just Washington Heights that we look at one of

         19  these events is unique in many respects, and we look

         20  at each one as a unique event.

         21                 A number of the improvements that we

         22  have seen in recent years did come directly from

         23  Washington Heights. And clearly, as Jim testified,

         24  those weren't sufficient and so we need to go

         25  further. We intend to do that.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You said 44

          3  recommendations and ten were still outstanding. One

          4  of your recommendations, reading from page nine of

          5  your 2000 Washington Heights Report, is that Con

          6  Edison should show cause why it should not file a

          7  proposal to provide compensation to customers for

          8  verifiable damage to appliance motors.

          9                 Now, they have, as you know,

         10  arrogantly refused to do that, despite your

         11  recommendation.

         12                 You discussed before things you

         13  mandate as opposed to recommend. You recommended

         14  this, that they expand the definition of what's

         15  reimbursable. The Attorney General went even further

         16  than you did. There is no moral or legal

         17  justification for reimbursing perishables but not

         18  other damages that have suffered as a result of Con

         19  Ed's negligence. Why have you not insisted that they

         20  reimburse for actual losses, number one? And what

         21  will you do to ensure that they don't continue their

         22  arrogance and refuse to reimburse my community for

         23  their damages?

         24                 MR. WORDEN: After Washington Heights

         25  the Commission did initiate a proceeding to look
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          2  into what the reimbursement should be. Not only the

          3  amounts, but also the types of problem, whether it's

          4  food or appliances.

          5                 The Commission at that time increased

          6  the reimbursement amounts for food and for

          7  perishables, however, at the time decided not to

          8  reimburse for appliance-related damage. And because

          9  of evidence that was presented during that

         10  proceeding, the Commission found it impossible to

         11  come up with a fair, a verification system that, for

         12  example, a radio that doesn't work, was actually

         13  destroyed by as a result of the outage, the one

         14  thing I can say is that that's all on the table

         15  again. I mean, as part of this proceeding, the

         16  Commission could again decide to make changes, and

         17  it's absolutely with its reimbursement --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: How is that

         19  going to help these people if you don't finish your

         20  report for who the heck knows how long, and the

         21  people have gone on and bought new appliances and

         22  not kept the receipts for the years it takes? How is

         23  it going to help my community that this is back on

         24  the table now? The fact that Con Ed should reimburse

         25  for losses that are provable based on their

                                                            161

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  negligence? What does that mean "back on the table?"

          3                 MR. WORDEN: By back on the table it

          4  means, and what I'm saying is that as part of this

          5  investigation the Commission will again consider

          6  whether it needs to make any changes in the current

          7  approach.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: If you do

          9  recommend that that happened, is that a

         10  recommendation, or are you mandating that Con Ed do

         11  that?

         12                 MR. WORDEN: We are recommending to

         13  the Commission, and then the Commission collectively

         14  would need to make a decision, as to whether it's

         15  going to change its existing policy.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So you recommend

         17  to the public --

         18                 MR. WORDEN: We recommend to the

         19  publisher, we are the staff of the Commission

         20  overseeing the company's performance.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So, if you

         22  recommend to the Commission, and I am imploring that

         23  you do, and if you don't we'll be back here again,

         24  but if you recommend to the Commission what anyone

         25  with any common sense would, that Con Ed should be
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          2  responsible for damages it caused, and they agree

          3  with you, as they should, what happens next for my

          4  community which has suffered?

          5                 MR. WORDEN: It would be my -- I'm not

          6  a lawyer, but I would probably say it would probably

          7  be a forward-going change. At the same time, though,

          8  I would want to say, if a customer right now can

          9  demonstrate that equipment was damaged as a result

         10  of this outage, they can still approach Con Edison

         11  and seek reimbursement.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I know Kevin

         13  Burke said that many times, and I've instructed

         14  anyone with any damage to call Con Ed, and every one

         15  of them who sustains mechanical damage or damage in

         16  excess of $7,000, we were told by Con Ed, you're

         17  only getting what we told you you're getting.

         18                 So, no matter how many times they sit

         19  here and say have them contact us. We did that, and

         20  you know, it's typical Con Ed, just typical deceit

         21  and lies, every person who called got the same

         22  answer. You'll get nothing more than we originally

         23  promised. Every person. If you can show me one

         24  person that got more than the 7,000, I would like to

         25  see it, but I have not seen one.

                                                            163

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 You also mentioned when you spoke in

          3  Albany, well, to the Assembly, you mentioned some

          4  things you didn't discuss here. From your testimony

          5  there you said each day, twice a day, during the

          6  summer Con Edison is required to submit to staff

          7  reports that provide the status of their

          8  distribution systems, including customer and feeder

          9  outages. The reports are analyzed by staff to obtain

         10  a sense of whether or not problems might be expected

         11  or if an outage trend might be developing.

         12                 Then William Flynn, the Chairman,

         13  told the New York Times that he did not know the

         14  extent to which the Public Service Commission had

         15  examined regular Con Ed reports regarding the status

         16  of its infrastructure systems, and that the PSC's

         17  treatment of such reports would have to be

         18  investigated.

         19                 Frankly, that's an amazing admission,

         20  that Con Ed has been writing reports and no one is

         21  looking at them, at least the Chair doesn't know if

         22  they're being looked at.

         23                 What is the status of your

         24  investigation regarding what Chair Flynn said?

         25                 MR. GALLAGHER: We are the Office of
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          2  Electricity and Environment, I'm Director of, and

          3  Mike's section within my office, we are the ones who

          4  receive those reports and review those reports, and

          5  in particular the two-time-a-day outage reports

          6  regarding problems with feeders or other portions of

          7  the distribution system.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Do you take

          9  issue with what the Chair said, or is he correct?

         10                 MR. GALLAGHER: As I understand the

         11  Chairman's response, in response to that question at

         12  the time, he was not specifically aware of the type

         13  of detailed review we do. That that wasn't something

         14  that he was responding to or prepared to respond to

         15  at the time the question was asked. But we're here

         16  and we can tell you what we do as part of our

         17  review.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Do you examine

         19  the reports that are given to you twice a day every

         20  day, as they're given to you?

         21                 MR. GALLAGHER: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You're

         23  responsible for that, or people under your --

         24                 MR. GALLAGHER: Ultimately we are

         25  responsible.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So, I guess the

          3  investigation is done, that he was doing into these

          4  reports, you investigated everything you needed to

          5  investigate.

          6                 I'm glad to hear that. Don't get me

          7  wrong, I'm glad he either misspoke or just wasn't

          8  aware. It's just disconcerting that these reports

          9  were being handed in and he made that statement.

         10                 You also said, or he said to the

         11  Assembly, that Con Edison must file a reliability

         12  power quality report, and Con Ed assesses its own

         13  performance. Very cute. And then your staff

         14  typically meets with Con Ed to discuss the reports

         15  and plan for improvements, and discuss whether

         16  performance targets were met. If Con Edison does not

         17  meet its targets, it must subject to a negative

         18  revenue adjustment.

         19                 And these questions were asked before

         20  of OEM, but I was saving it for you that revenue for

         21  Con Ed and rates for Con Ed are based on Con Ed

         22  reliability. In fact, in your testimony you called

         23  them the most reliable in the country. It's also

         24  clear, beyond any reasonable doubt, they have lied.

         25  They have lied during this blackout, most likely
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          2  lied during every blackout regarding the extent of

          3  the damage caused by their failures.

          4                 If you are basing revenue -- one of

          5  the criteria you use for a rate increase or decrease

          6  is the reliability of the company.

          7                 Doesn't this give them a motive to

          8  lie to you regarding the extent of any blackout?

          9                 MR. GALLAGHER: It's difficult for me

         10  to comment whether they lie or not. And there is a

         11  need for us, however, I will admit, there is a need

         12  for us to certify that the information we're getting

         13  from the company is accurate. And we do that.

         14                 We may find, in other words, as a

         15  result of this effort, and, again, as I said before,

         16  we're not believing a thing we're told as part of

         17  this investigation until we can verify.

         18                 And we will look whether we need to

         19  change the existing reporting mechanisms.

         20                 At this point we do go out and verify

         21  information that the company provides us.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: How would you

         23  verify? Right now you testified that the 25,000

         24  number that Con Ed was forced kicking and screaming

         25  to come up with, is just that, just an estimate.
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          2                 You have no idea, nor did OEM, nor

          3  does Con Ed, the extent of the blackout.

          4                 So, how are we judging the

          5  reliability if no one knows how many people were

          6  affected by the blackout?

          7                 MR. GALLAGHER: Well, we have some

          8  approaches that I can tell you as an example.

          9                 The Commission has initiated a

         10  advance, what I'm going to call an advance metering

         11  proceeding. And the hope is that by installing

         12  improved equipment in customers' homes and

         13  businesses, this won't happen again. The company

         14  will know exactly how many customers are out. And

         15  this may be a perfect example to pursue something of

         16  that type.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You said, there

         18  are systems in other areas of the country,

         19  California comes to mind, where there is a method of

         20  determining who is out based on equipment in the

         21  home. And, so, I'm glad to hear that you discussed

         22  this but I want to know a little bit more about it.

         23                 Will you be mandating or recommending

         24  that Con Ed comes up with this sort of system?

         25                 MR. GALLAGHER: What we have done, and
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          2  the Commission has initiated a proceeding, Con Ed

          3  and other companies are to come in with a plan for

          4  how they are going to consider advanced metering and

          5  where they're going to consider it.

          6                 So far the company has been, as a

          7  result of the last rate case, they're doing a pilot

          8  program with 300,000 customers in Westchester

          9  County. We would like to explore with the company

         10  possibly the Long Island City network as a perfect

         11  test bed for putting in improved meters, so we can

         12  actually see from experience real empirical evidence

         13  whether that works. But, again, the proceeding is

         14  now underway, and these are just discussions between

         15  staff and the company, something we'd like to see.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I'm glad to hear

         17  that. I mean, I'd like to see you recommend that

         18  also.

         19                 You mentioned a prudence proceeding

         20  that could possibly occur upon the conclusion of the

         21  investigation; is there some reason we need to wait

         22  until the investigation concludes to begin that?

         23                 MR. GALLAGHER: No.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Because it's

         25  clear that you should start the prudence proceeding
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          2  two weeks ago, in which they have to demonstrate

          3  that their actions were reasonable, in which you

          4  could penalize them obviously, in which you examine

          5  the adequacy of the company's tariff that provides

          6  for food spoilage payments to affected customers.

          7  Why hasn't that been started already? What's the

          8  delay? We know for a fact that the power was out. We

          9  know that they lied or were completely negligent

         10  about the extent of the damage. We know that they

         11  never, ever told my community when, until it was

         12  just about over, when the power outage would be

         13  done. No estimate at all.

         14                 Everyone in my community sat around

         15  their stores, hoping the power would go back on in

         16  the next 20 minutes, because Con Ed at the time it

         17  knew that half of their system was down never told

         18  the public you're not getting your power back

         19  tomorrow morning.

         20                 So, we know all those facts, why

         21  haven't we started a prudence proceeding regarding

         22  payments to affected customers?

         23                 MR. GALLAGHER: This investigation

         24  began on July 26th and we've had people out in the

         25  field. We've been collecting evidence, information,
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          2  where the parties are going to have an opportunity

          3  to participate. We will go to the Commission. There

          4  are two areas already that we're very, extremely

          5  disappointed in, and that's -- you know, we've

          6  already been talking about it, estimating the number

          7  of customers, and also the company's failure to

          8  provide an estimate of when customers would be back

          9  in service. I mean, that's a requirement of

         10  Commission regulations.

         11                 In terms of we will need to do more.

         12  However, and I can assure you, we're doing this as

         13  quickly as we can to build a record case for any

         14  actions that the Commission may need to take, and at

         15  this point I cannot say one way or the other what

         16  that recommendation will be. I mean, we do not

         17  believe we have all the answers that we need yet.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: But as I said,

         19  there is three indisputable facts. I can't think of

         20  any other facts that would be necessary to begin a

         21  prudence hearing regarding at a minimum the

         22  reimbursement of customers for verifiable losses.

         23  Why haven't you started that?

         24                 MR. GALLAGHER: Well, in that

         25  particular situation there is an improved tariff
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          2  already in place, and the company is operating

          3  within that tariff.

          4                 They did come to the Commission and

          5  request that certain provisions be weighed, such as

          6  proof that they purchased groceries, for example,

          7  other things that the Commission weighed with the

          8  overall cap on payments to the customers.

          9                 Apparently, my understanding as of

         10  two days ago or three days ago, 30 some thousand

         11  applications have already been submitted to the

         12  company for reimbursement, and so far the company is

         13  turning them around rapidly.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: But it's clear

         15  in this case you're talking about approved tariffs.

         16  The tariffs were considered improved for an average

         17  blackout, a few hours a day.

         18                 This is not your average blackout.

         19  It's the worst in the history of New York City.

         20  Based on that, why haven't you begun a prudence

         21  hearing to increase the amount of reimbursement to

         22  people who suffered for nine days? It's clear,

         23  because the nine-day blackout was never envisioned

         24  when you came up with the original tariff,

         25  completely negligent company, where a 12-year-old on
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          2  a bike could have estimated the amount of people who

          3  were without power better than this multi-billion

          4  dollar customer could, company could, and, yet,

          5  we're sitting here letting my community suffer and

          6  not be reimbursed. Why hasn't that proceeding begun?

          7                 And if it hasn't, which it hasn't,

          8  when will it be?

          9                 MR. GALLAGHER: I feel we're at the

         10  point where we're repeating ourselves. We feel we do

         11  not have enough information yet to start that

         12  proceeding.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I'm asking that

         14  you inform these committees immediately when you do

         15  make that decision one way or the other.

         16                 And let me say, I understand that

         17  you're here on your own free will, and thank you for

         18  being here. We don't have jurisdiction over you,

         19  which is perhaps a problem since you have

         20  jurisdiction over the company which provides us

         21  power. But you are here based on a request. We thank

         22  you for that. You did not have to be here, and I

         23  can't demand that you give us anything but I'm

         24  requesting that you give us the information when you

         25  make that decision.
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          2                 MR. GALLAGHER: Absolutely.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

          4                 MR. GALLAGHER: I should say when the

          5  Commission makes the decision.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Correct.

          7  Correct.

          8                 I want to end up, you mentioned some

          9  public hearings and I was at one of them that you're

         10  having as part of your investigation. There have

         11  been much concern out there that these hearings have

         12  not been publicized as efficiently as they should

         13  have been. How are you publicizing those hearings?

         14                 MR. GALLAGHER: I don't have that

         15  information right in front of me, but I believe that

         16  they were, initially they were publicized through

         17  the web page, through local community leaders. The

         18  company was asked to get word out about the

         19  hearings. Various, I believe that the Commission,

         20  Department asked for cooperation from various

         21  elected officials in the area, in terms of getting

         22  the word out. If more hearings are needed, they'll

         23  be held.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I hope they are.

         25  But I also would ask you to do more than that,
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          2  because you did alert my office, and I did what I

          3  could, but I'm not set up, equipped to somehow get

          4  the word out to my entire community. I only have a

          5  certain amount of phones in my office, and the only

          6  way most of my community heard about it, unless I

          7  told them personally, was through one local cable

          8  station, which did it out of the goodness of their

          9  hearts. They're not mandated to do it. So, you need

         10  to reach out to the community a little bit more than

         11  you have, perhaps by advertising space in some of

         12  the local newspapers, perhaps some sort of flyers

         13  that could be handed out on corners. None of this

         14  was done.

         15                 MR. GALLAGHER: One of the things I

         16  was just handed, notification of public statement

         17  hearings were provided to public community leaders

         18  and other officials through various public notices

         19  and press releases distributed to media, radio, TV,

         20  daily and weekly newspapers. The releases were also

         21  distributed to all members of the Senate and

         22  Assembly and notice of hearings were included in the

         23  testimony provided by PSC before the Assembly Energy

         24  and Corporations Committee.

         25                 We hear what you're saying, and we'll
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          2  do a better job.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you. I

          4  mean, you have given it to public officials, we did

          5  receive that. You did give it to radio and TV

          6  stations, but there's no necessity that they

          7  publicized. That's why I'm asking that you actually

          8  have to buy some time on these stations and

          9  newspapers.

         10                 Thank you for that. I've got a lot

         11  more and I know the hour is running late. Let me

         12  thank you again for coming down here.

         13                 MR. GALLAGHER: You're welcome. Look

         14  forward to working with you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Director

         16  Gallagher, just a follow-up on the liability. Has

         17  there ever been a statewide outage, electrical

         18  outage for this period of time anywhere else?

         19                 MR. GALLAGHER: There is not that I am

         20  aware of a statewide outage for this period of time.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Like nine days

         22  that's affected --

         23                 MR. GALLAGHER: So you don't mean for

         24  the entire state. You mean just an outage.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Right. Anywhere
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          2  in the state, any municipality or locality?

          3                 MR. WORDEN: The outage in Northern

          4  New York, I think it was 1998, lasted for three

          5  weeks.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Three weeks.

          7                 MR. WORDEN: It was an ice storm.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And how many

          9  people were affected by that?

         10                 MR. WORDEN: It was over 100,000. I

         11  don't have the exact number in front of me.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And what was the

         13  tariff or reimbursable for that?

         14                 MR. GALLAGHER: There was none.

         15                 MR. WORDEN: There was none.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: None? And who was

         17  the electrical provide up there?

         18                 MR. WORDEN: It was then Niagara

         19  Mohawk, who is now National Grid.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Pardon me? I'm

         21  sorry, can you say that again?

         22                 MR. WORDEN: Niagara Mohawk and NYSIG.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And why was there

         24  no reimbursable to that area? Did the State come in

         25  and do an extra help to try to restore the economy
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          2  in that area?

          3                 MR. WORDEN: There were a number of

          4  other activities taken by different state entities

          5  to provide support to the people up there. But Con

          6  Edison is the only actual electric utility that has

          7  tariff provisions to reimburse for loss of food in

          8  New York State.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. And who

         10  determined the tariff or the reimbursement for Con

         11  Ed? Why was that done originally?

         12                 MR. WORDEN: That was a Commission

         13  proceeding. It was originally a lower amount that

         14  after Washington Heights it was an increase to the

         15  current.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: It was an

         17  increase, but there was no -- I seem to infer from

         18  your statement that you do recognize that this was

         19  an extraordinary event and with a nine-day lag, the

         20  economy in Northwestern Queens took a violent and

         21  maybe permanent blow, and that the Public Service

         22  Commission will be looking at that?

         23                 MR. GALLAGHER: Yes, it will. Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And did you also

         25  say that Con Ed had asked you for a waiver for the
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          2  amount of reimbursables?

          3                 MR. WORDEN: Well, for proof in order

          4  to receive the reimbursement.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: For the receipts

          6  and things.

          7                 MR. WORDEN: And there is a cap on the

          8  tariff provision that Con Edison normally will only

          9  provide reimbursements up to $10 million, and we

         10  waived that cap.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: You waived that

         12  cap.

         13                 MR. WORDEN: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So they can do

         15  more than $10 million.

         16                 MR. WORDEN: Correct.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: But is that

         18  recoverable by them, by asking for a rate increase

         19  later?

         20                 MR. DICKSON: Under general

         21  circumstances if it were not related to an imprudent

         22  act on the part of the company, most of that is

         23  recoverable there. It may be partially recoverable

         24  from insurance coverage if it is determined that it

         25  is not recoverable in rates.
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          2                 That determination would be part of

          3  the investigation.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Con Ed does have

          5  a general insurance indemnity against certain acts

          6  to provide them for reimbursement for monies that

          7  they have to outlay?

          8                 MR. DICKSON: They have an excess

          9  liability insurance policy that covers them for a

         10  lot of other risks. One of them is this sort of

         11  payment in excess of what they would recover from

         12  ratepayers.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So, based on the

         14  amount of insurance, they could actually do more

         15  than the $7,000 to the customers if they can then

         16  establish a predicate for getting reimbursed by the

         17  insurance company and by or a rate increase?

         18                 MR. DICKSON: It's difficult for me to

         19  say. I think that's a legal determination, and I'm

         20  not qualified to make -- if it was determined that

         21  they needed to pay out for whatever reason more than

         22  the tariff provisions provide for, and there was a

         23  legal requirement placed upon them to do so for this

         24  particular instance, there is the possibility that

         25  they will recover some, if not all -- not all, but
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          2  some of that additional compensation.

          3                 I do not understand exactly how that

          4  determination is made, whether it needs to be a

          5  finding of gross negligence or it is under normal

          6  business circumstances.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

          8                 MR. DICKSON: But that will be the

          9  subject of part of our review as well.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Part of your

         11  review. We strongly would suggest that that review

         12  does try to give the residents and businesses in

         13  that area another opportunity for economic recovery

         14  by increasing the amount of reimbursables.

         15                 This is truly unpredecented and I'm

         16  kind of bewildered. You said other things were done

         17  for the people upstate but clearly as part of the

         18  package that we're trying to do for the people in

         19  that area, we need to make sure that they get a

         20  better reimbursement for that extraordinary period.

         21                 There was just another question, or

         22  series of questions. Supposedly the consumers in

         23  that area were supposed to get a lower bill for the

         24  month of August, but somehow they seem to have

         25  gotten higher bills for that particular month.
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          2                 Can you explain what happened there?

          3                 MR. WORDEN: Well, most likely what

          4  happened, and we are looking into this, what most

          5  likely happened is just because that was an

          6  incredibly hot month and they may have used more

          7  electricity in the period immediately before and

          8  immediately after the blackout. But we will look

          9  into exactly what happened, but that's my --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And make those

         11  adjustments.

         12                 MR. WORDEN: Right.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Let me jump in

         15  one second, Leroy.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I'm glad you're

         18  doing that. Commissioner Flynn did say that he

         19  approved a one-time credit to effectively lower the

         20  charges for the month of August. That was the goal.

         21  The bills are higher. I can't imagine any common

         22  sense where that someone without power for nine days

         23  could even conceivably pay more for power during

         24  that month than the month before when the weather

         25  was comparable. So, I'm glad you're looking into
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          2  that.

          3                 MR. DICKSON: Perhaps I can help

          4  clarify the issue a bit.

          5                 Basically the waiver and the

          6  pro-rationing of the bill was related to the

          7  customer charge, which is the fixed monthly charge

          8  that only covers a portion of the electric bill.

          9                 And in the other, let's say it's 21

         10  days or 22 days in July when the customers that were

         11  affected had access to electricity, they may have

         12  used a substantially higher level of energy, which

         13  is separately charged on the bill.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I'm aware of

         15  that, but I also think it's --

         16                 MR. DICKSON: And it's at a higher

         17  rate.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: -- Impossible to

         19  take out nine days and say that you used more energy

         20  in the remaining days than you would in the entire

         21  previous month when the weather was basically the

         22  same.

         23                 I don't think it's possible. I'm glad

         24  that you're looking into that.

         25                 MR. DICKSON: We are looking into it.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Also, just a

          4  final round of questions, and I do want to second

          5  Council Member Vallone's, Chairman Vallone's

          6  expression of thanks to you for coming today,

          7  because you know, we're not an oversight agency for

          8  you, but you did want to reaffirm your commitment to

          9  the public by being here today, and I want to thank

         10  you for that and for coming down from Albany --

         11                 MR. WORDEN: You're welcome.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: -- To be with us

         13  this afternoon.

         14                 You are going to put together a

         15  comparitable-type response as you did when

         16  Washington Heights went down with Committee

         17  recommendations and issues and protocols to be set

         18  from this particular incident, correct?

         19                 MS. GALLAGHER: Yes, it will be a

         20  comprehensive report and recommendations.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And do you have

         22  an estimate on what the time frame for that

         23  completion of that would be?

         24                 MR. GALLAGHER: I can tell you that

         25  our goal is to wrap up the investigation before the
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          2  end of this year, which is a little over three

          3  months.

          4                 However, as I mentioned, there is a

          5  judge that has been assigned and is entertaining

          6  ideas regarding thoughts and procedures and

          7  schedules.

          8                 But internally, that's our target.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: That's your

         10  target, okay.

         11                 MR. GALLAGHER: My staff.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And, of course,

         13  you'll keep us informed on how you're doing with

         14  those particular goals?

         15                 MR. GALLAGHER: Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And your liaison

         17  that you have assigned to Con Edison, if we could

         18  get an opportunity to have a regular sit-down with

         19  that individual so that we can be kept abreast of

         20  how your progress is within that period, and if

         21  there is any opportunities for us -- you said to do

         22  an additional set of suggestions, a-la the

         23  suggestions that the Administrative Law Judge is

         24  asking for to help out in that process, we'd like to

         25  be informed about that.
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          2                 MR. GALLAGHER: Yes. In fact, I would

          3  welcome you to participate in our proceeding, to any

          4  extent you're interested, and we will -- we are all

          5  willing to come back whenever you wish to give you

          6  an update.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I appreciate

          8  that. Thank you.

          9                 The third amigo left and never came

         10  back. I thought he had a lot of questions for PSC,

         11  but he's not here, and I don't see his staff person,

         12  so I guess they had to go somewhere. So with that,

         13  Mr. Gallagher, I want to thank you for being here

         14  this afternoon. I want to thank you for your

         15  patience --

         16                 MR. GALLAGHER: You're welcome.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: -- For waiting

         18  even though you drove down from Albany early this

         19  morning, and you didn't get to start testifying

         20  until almost noon, so I appreciate your being here

         21  and your commitment to at least informing the public

         22  on what PSC is doing.

         23                 MR. GALLAGHER: You're welcome.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And I'll announce

         25  the arrival of Council Member John Liu, but since I
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          2  told you you could go, I'm not going to let him do

          3  any questions. I'm sorry, Council Member Liu.

          4                 And with that, we have two members of

          5  the public who want to testify. So, I want to thank

          6  you for coming.

          7                 MR. GALLAGHER: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And look forward

          9  to talking with you soon.

         10                 Joanne Derwin from the Urban Agenda.

         11  Did she actually leave? Oh, she did submit some

         12  testimony vis-a-vis the need for New Yorkers to take

         13  stock of our energy situation as a part of the New

         14  York City Alliance, and we will enter that into the

         15  testimony.

         16                 The only other person that submitted

         17  a speaking time was Mr. Jose Adams. If you can come

         18  forward, and you'll have three minutes to provide

         19  your insight to this particular problem.

         20                 Again, I want to thank Councilman

         21  Vallone's staff, Councilman Gioia's staff, my staff,

         22  Brian Sobel and Thomas Ferrugia and Joe Goldblum and

         23  Josh Rivera from my office, for all the work they

         24  did. And Yasser, my intern, my legal intern that's

         25  been here this summer, I want to thank him for his
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          2  insight into these issues.

          3                 The Committee will be holding a

          4  hearing, a joint hearing with Transportation Chair

          5  John Liu, in September on this issue. We'll be

          6  having one hearing per month relating to Con Edison

          7  and Con Edison's ability to provide adequate

          8  services to the City.

          9                 The object of these hearings will try

         10  to make sure that by next season Con Edison will be

         11  doing a lot more to protect constituents within the

         12  City.

         13                 One of their problems, I think, and

         14  it's been spoken and dealt with in this testimony

         15  from the Urban Agenda is that the usage in this City

         16  is going up by 14 percent a year, and we really need

         17  to deal with that in a substantial kind of way, and

         18  one of the objects of this Committee is to make sure

         19  that Con Ed is doing what they need to do to deal

         20  with their real actual usage in the City.

         21                 With that, yes, Council Member

         22  Vallone.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Yes, I didn't

         24  want to leave anyone out. I also want to thank your

         25  entire staff, as I did earlier. They've been a
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          2  pleasure to work with, as have you. My staff, I want

          3  to welcome Liz Dubin who is my new Counsel, and did

          4  a great job on this hearing. I think it's her first

          5  full hearing. Welcome to the Council. And my legal

          6  intern, who is Kevin, who is sitting here. And I

          7  just want to actually say to Mr. Adams, I heard you

          8  testify before, and I know that much of it doesn't

          9  actually concern the City's response. So, this

         10  hearing is about the City's response. Three minutes,

         11  I'm asking you to stay to that. Go.

         12                 MR. ADAMS: Yes, thank you. One of the

         13  things that made me come back to testify again is

         14  because of the need of clarify this problem that

         15  happen in Queens. I said that we are very lucky City

         16  that nothing else happened, except what happen. Just

         17  by the explosion of the manhole, it could have

         18  killed somebody.

         19                 What you have to understand, I would

         20  say today I understand that we are more than very,

         21  very lucky. Just from what I hear saying that Con

         22  Edison lowered the voltage when they come out with

         23  this problem. That make more certain what I told to

         24  the Public Service Commission when I say they had to

         25  check what happened at LaGuardia Airport, that run
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          2  out of power. Before anything. We're talking about

          3  nine day, ten day, because LaGuardia came first

          4  without power on Sunday afternoon. And what it looks

          5  to me is that they connect LaGuardia to the circuit

          6  of Queens. That's when it lowered the voltage.

          7                 The Commissioner was probably told to

          8  say that Con Edison lowered the voltage. But how it

          9  look like is that LaGuardia lowered the voltage.

         10                 If they're doing that, we have to

         11  tell Con Edison, they cannot do that. I want to

         12  suggest the Commission of the Council to get an

         13  electrical engineer to give you advice because they

         14  cannot do that.

         15                 All the equipment operated to certain

         16  level of voltage, and that's what happened. They

         17  lowered the voltage, that when I said LaGuardia

         18  lowered the voltage, they don't mention, just that

         19  it went out of power, that looks like is a line for

         20  LaGuardia, and they connected LaGuardia to Queens,

         21  the voltage went down, but that can burn a lot of

         22  equipment. Only what the Commissioner say, that

         23  equipment that were burned in Queens because of the

         24  lower of the voltage. But that even worse when it

         25  come to a hospital, that can cause life to many
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          2  people because a doctor had to rely on that. The

          3  voltage for any equipment, the precision of

          4  equipment that the hospital use had to be steady.

          5  You cannot play with voltage because when you lower

          6  the voltage and that's when it heat up, the main

          7  blowing, wire burning down and so many equipment

          8  break in here. They have to come out with the real

          9  truth. And especially about the concern of

         10  unacceptable blackout. We have to make Con Edison

         11  accountable for the loss of the people, otherwise

         12  we're never going to get to a place where we can say

         13  we're not going to have anymore blackout, because if

         14  they're not accountable for the loss of the people,

         15  they're only going to keep the situation, investing

         16  a few thousand dollars for millions in their

         17  improvement as much as it can and then spend a few

         18  penny on the people. That's the way it works.

         19                 We have to make this City a city with

         20  a really unacceptable blackout.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you, Mr.

         22  Adams. I appreciate --

         23                 MR. ADAMS: I just want to say that

         24  I'm submitting to you the case that I have in court

         25  for you to understand what happened in this City.
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          2  The Mayor wasn't here, they haven't said what

          3  happened for the five days the Mayor was not in

          4  here.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: We'll take a look

          6  at your report.

          7                 MR. ADAMS: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And we are in the

          9  process of having some engineers look at this and

         10  give us an overview. And we understand what you're

         11  saying about changing voltage.

         12                 MR. ADAMS: I had a candidate for

         13  Attorney General said bring a lie detector. I would

         14  say give the Commissioners a copy of the previous

         15  hearing that we have here, because it doesn't go

         16  along with the testimony that we got in here.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         18                 With that, seeing no other one that

         19  wished to testify today, you testified at the last

         20  hearing, thank you very much.

         21                 I'd like to thank all who

         22  participated. And, yes, I forgot your last name, but

         23  I want to say I really appreciated you being here

         24  with us this summer. It's been a very busy summer,

         25  right, Council Member Vallone? But it's been

                                                            192

          1  CONSUMER AFFAIRS AND PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  necessary to try and inform the public based on what

          3  had happened to them. And I again want to

          4  congratulate the residents of Northeastern Queens

          5  for their diligence and perseverance and real sense

          6  of community in the face of a tragedy.

          7                 And with that, I'll declare this

          8  hearing closed.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: As is the Public

         10  Safety Hearing. And thank you, Chair Comrie.

         11                 (the following written testimony was

         12  read into the record.)
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          2  and Peter Vallone, Jr.

          3  City Hall

          4  New York, NY 10007

          5

          6                 Dear City Council Members,

          7                 The recent power outage in Queens has

          8  caused millions of dollars in economic losses and

          9  underscores the urgency for developing

         10  energy-efficient homes as well as an overhaul of Con

         11  Edison's distribution system.

         12                 Con Edison should dedicate their

         13  efforts to updating their distribution system and

         14  expanding their support for energy efficiency

         15  programs.

         16                 This crisis highlights the need for

         17  New Yorkers to take stock of our current energy

         18  situation. We face a fundamental challenge to

         19  guarantee reliable electricity to our homes and

         20  businesses. As a city, we must collectively address

         21  this problem by taking full advantage of innovations

         22  in renewable energy.

         23                 Over the past 10 years, the

         24  population of Queens has surged by 14.2%, making it

         25  the second fastest growing county in the state. This
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          2  underscores the urgency of thinking about ways to

          3  reduce our need for traditional energy sources as

          4  well as utilizing the potential of high performance

          5  buildings to create a generation of high-skilled

          6  good jobs in the building construction, electrical,

          7  and operating trades if linked to a comprehensive

          8  worker training, re-training, and education

          9  strategy. Residents increasingly demand air

         10  conditioners, dishwashers, and other amenities, yet

         11  do not want power plants sitting in their back

         12  yards. By providing subsidies for energy efficient

         13  air conditioners and buildings and linking

         14  distributive sources of energy both on and off the

         15  grid to homes, schools, and businesses (among other

         16  sites), for instance, would reduce the need for new

         17  power plants. This would also create new highly

         18  skilled jobs, resulting in net gain employment not

         19  net loss. Such an approach would create the

         20  opportunity to revitalize New York City's industrial

         21  sectors if we can locally design and produce the

         22  products that support the high-performance building

         23  market.

         24                 According to the NYC Energy Policy

         25  Task Force, our city will need 3,780 additional
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          2  Megawatts of capacity by 2012, which translates

          3  roughly to the energy found in five large power

          4  plants. Where will the City find these thousands of

          5  megawatts to keep lights burning and computers

          6  working? Energy policy cannot continue to be

          7  addressed by spending billions of dollars to support

          8  an inefficient system. Rather, energy-demand

          9  reduction strategies and alternative energy

         10  development coupled with improvements in our

         11  existing infrastructure can be linked to a

         12  comprehensive strategy for job creation and

         13  environmental health and prosperity. Doing so is

         14  good for our economy, security, health and

         15  environment.

         16                 High performance buildings must

         17  become the new norm because they are an important

         18  part of a larger strategy for a strong economy and

         19  healthy city. They create a new energy paradigm that

         20  creates jobs and revolutionizes how our city is

         21  powered.

         22                 Healthy and high performance

         23  buildings also improve student performance, worker

         24  productivity, and the overall health of the city,

         25  and they will help ensure that New York maintains
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          2  its status as the world's preeminent global city.

          3                 Besides, as we learned during the

          4  northeast blackout in 2003, we need to promote

          5  energy efficiency if we're going to continue relying

          6  heavily on networks, internet, refrigeration,

          7  communications, electric cash registers, electronic

          8  security systems, and neon lights that operate day

          9  and night.

         10                 This is all the more reason to do the

         11  right thing for New York City's economy,

         12  environment, neighborhoods, workers and health. Con

         13  Edison should view this summer's energy crisis as a

         14  catalyst for future collaboration with policy

         15  makers, community residents and organizations and

         16  local politicians to think of innovative and

         17  sustainable ways to address energy consumption and

         18  conservation in our great City.

         19                 NYC Apollo Alliance has taken the

         20  lead in implementing an energy vision for our City

         21  that is farsighted, equitable, sustainable, and

         22  growth-oriented.

         23                 A diverse coalition of labor leaders,

         24  environmentalists, businesses, and civil rights

         25  activists are spearheading Apollo's national call
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          2  for serious investments in clean energy and good

          3  jobs, while grassroots coalitions are organizing to

          4  enact legislation, galvanize public support, and

          5  affect change.

          6                 About NYC Apollo

          7                 NYC Apollo (www.nycapollo.org), a

          8  coalition of labor unions, environmental and

          9  environmental justice advocates, businesses,

         10  educators and community-based organizations,

         11  believes that New York City can become a locus of

         12  economic growth and high living standards by

         13  adopting a modern energy policy that promotes

         14  renewable energy and energy efficiency.

         15                 By spurring investment in advanced

         16  technology, high performance building and hob

         17  training, existing jobs will be protected and

         18  transformed, new high-quality jobs will be created,

         19  and New Yorker's environmental health, especially

         20  among those whose neighborhoods are

         21  disproportionately impacted by environmental health

         22  hazards, will improved. NYC Apollo is affiliated

         23  with the National Apollo Alliance

         24  (www.apolloalliance.org).

         25                 Urban Agenda is a project of the NYC
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          2  Central Labor Council and the Joseph F. Murphy

          3  Institute for Worker Education & Labor Studies,

          4  CUNY.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 1:46 p.m.)
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          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter, do hereby certify that the

         11  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         12  within proceeding.

         13                 I further certify that I am not

         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         17                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         18  set my hand this 22nd day of August 2006.
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